# HEALTH TRENDS IN A CANADIAN POLICE FORCE: A CROSS-SECTIONAL AND LONGITUDINAL STUDY

CENTRE FOR NEWFOUNDLAND STUDIES

TOTAL OF 10 PAGES ONLY MAY BE XEROXED

(Without Author's Permission)







# Health Trends in a Canadian Police Force: A Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Study

by

# Lesley Tomblin

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Division of Community Health Faculty of Medicine Memorial University of Newfoundland

April 2002

St. John's Newfoundland

#### Abstract

Previous research suggests that members of the police force are at risk of certain health problems and exposed to a variety of occupational health hazards. To clarify the character of these health problems and their association with certain occupational hazards 414 police officers in one division of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police were assessed. Data examined included their overall health, the extent to which this changed over a five year period (1994-1998), the extent of their exposure to occupational hazards, and the association of the hazards with their health status. An expanded definition of health was used to measure four areas of health: morbidity, health indicators, subjective perceptions and functional capacity. The results revealed that the members of this police division scored high on most measures of health and that there was little change between 1994 and 1998. However, the results suggest that members were at risk for developing cardiac disease and diabetes, and/or may suffer from chronic conditions, such as asthma and joint/back problems. The male police officers had higher levels of elevated cholesterol and obesity than the general male Newfoundland population. Some aspects of police work were found to be associated with poorer health. These findings are discussed with reference to other research on police health.

#### Acknowledgements

The writing of this thesis was a long and challenging, especially because it was done on a part-time basis. However, now that it is complete. I have a sense of accomplishment, pride and appreciation. My appreciation goes out to the many people who were involved in the long arduous process.

I would like to acknowledge the support of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police.

"B" Division. Newfoundland and Labrador for providing me the opportunity to evaluate
the Periodic Health Assessments of the members and to assist them in their goal of being

"Fit for Duty. Fit for Life." It is hoped that this thesis will contribute to the RCMP's
knowledge of the health of their members and their continued efforts to find ways to
improve their health.

To Dr. Michael Murray, my academic advisor, who patiently waited and guided me while I plodded along through each phase of my thesis, my sincere appreciation. I wish to thank Dr. Nigel Rawson and Dr. Jorge Segovia for serving on my thesis committee and their contributions to the completion of this work. I would also like to thank Aisling Gogan for her valued support and direction in the understanding and use of SPSS

To my friends whom I have not seen nearly as much of over the last few years as I
would have liked, thank you for not giving me up for lost but waiting patiently for me to

finish. Special thanks to Joanne Hogan, my colleague and friend, for supporting me along the way with her hugs and words of support and encouragement.

To my Mother and Father, thank you for giving me the opportunity to value and integrate into my life physical activity and a healthy lifestyle. Also, for your visits to Newfoundland and the assistance you gave to Stephen, Leah and me.

Finally, to the two dearest people in my life - Stephen and Leah, my deepest appreciation for believing in my abilities, giving up the basement to me and not complaining of the lost time together. Thank you to Stephen for comments, suggestions and support throughout the writing of this thesis. We can now look forward to many wonderful paddles, hikes, bikes and holidays together.

# Table of Contents

Page

Abstract		i
Acknowledg	gements	i
List of Table	es	i
List of Figu	resvii	ä
Chapter 1		
	duction	1
1.1	Overview	
1.2	Definitions of Health	
1	1.2.1 What is Health?	
	1.2.2 What Makes People Healthy?	
	1.2.3 How Do We Measure Health?	
1.3	What is Occupational Health?	
1.3	1.3.1 Are There Variations in Health Between Occupations?	
1.4	Police Health	
	1.4.1 Mortality	
	1.4.2 Morbidity	
	1.4.3 Individual Lifestyle Factors	
	1.4.4 Workplace Hazards	
	1.4.5 Measuring Police Health	
1.5	RCMP	
	1.5.1 "B" Division, RCMP	
	1.5.2 Health Status	2
	1.5.3 Periodic Health Assessment	3
1.6	Objectives of Thesis	5
Chapter 2		
	nods	
2.1	Periodic Health Assessment Data Base	
2.2	Sample	8
2.3	Study Design	9
2.4	Measures of Health	
2.5	Occupational Herests	

	2.6	Data Analysis
	2.7	Ethical Review
Chap	ter 3	
	Result	ts3
	3.1	Demographics
	3.2	Indicators for Morbidity
	3.3	Negative Health Indicators
	3.4	Positive Health Indicators
	3.5	Psychological Symptoms
	3.6	Functional Capacity
	3.7	Occupational Hazards
	3.8	Link Between Occupational Hazards and Measures of Health
Chap	ter 4	
	Discu	ssion
	4.1	Health
	4.2	Occupational Hazards
	4.3	Relationship Between Occupational Hazards and Health
	4.4	Other Factors Influencing Police Health
		4.4.1 Health Services
		4.4.2 Income and Social Status
		4.4.3 Social Support Networks
		4.4.4 Education
		4.4.5 Physical Environments
		4.4.6 Biology and Genetic Endowment
		4.4.7 Personal Health Practices and Coping Skills
	4.5	Limitations
	4.6	Recommendations
Biblio	ography	10
Appe	ndices .	10
1.	RCMI	Periodic Health Assessment Questionnaire

Human Investigation Committee Approval 2.

# List of Tables

Table 1.3.1: Determinants of Health in the Workplace	
Table 2.4.1: Variables for Measuring Police Health	32
Table 2.5.1: Occupational Hazards Variables	3:
Table 3.1.1: Demographics of the RCMP Sample	3
Table 3.1.2: Physical Characteristics and Blood Work of the RCMP Sample	3
Table 3.2.1: Percentage of Population With Indicators for Morbidity	
by Sex and Age	40
Table 3.2.2: Percentage (%) of the Population Who Had a PHA During the	
Years 1994 and 1998 with Indicators of Morbidity	43
Table 3.2.3: Correlations Between Indicators for Morbidity	
Table 3.3.1: Percentage of Population With Negative Health Indicators	
by Sex and Age	47
Table 3.3.2: Percentage of Population With Selected Risk Factors by Sex and Age .	48
Table 3.3.3: Percentage (%) of the Population Who Had a PHA During the	
Years 1994 and 1998 with Negative Health Indicators	49
Table 3.3.4: Percentage of the Population During the Years 1994 and 1998	
With a Combination of Selected Risk Factors	50
Table 3.3.5: Comparison of the Prevalence of Risk Factors for RCMP	
and the Newfoundland Population	51
Table 3.3.6: Percentage of the RCMP and Newfoundland Male Populations	
with a Combination of Selected Risk Factors	
Table 3.3.7: Correlations Between Negative Health Indicators	53
Table 3.4.1: Percentage of Population With Positive Health Indicators	
by Sex and Age	55
Table 3.4.2: Percentage (%) of the Population Who Had a PHA During the Years	
1994 and 1998 with Positive Health Indicators	
Table 3.4.3: Correlations Between Positive Health Indicators	57
Table 3.5.1: Percentage of Population With Indicators for	
Psychological Symptoms by Sex and Age	. 60
Table 3.5.2: Percentage (%) of the Population Who Had a PHA During the	
Years 1994 and 1998 With Indicators for Psychological Symptoms	
Table 3.5.3: Correlations Between Indicators for Psychological Symptoms	. 64
Table 3.6.1: Percentage of Population With Indicators for Functional Capacity	
and Coping by Sex and Age	. 67
Table 3.6.2: Percentage (%) of the Population Who Had a PHA During the	
Years 1994 and 1998 With Indicators for Functional Capacity and Coping	
Table 2.6.2: Completions Detugen Functional Conseits and Conins	60

List of Figures	
-----------------	--

Page

Figure 1.2.1: An Expanded Health Field Concept	. 6
Figure 1.4.1: Model for Measuring Police Health	20

### Chapter 1

#### Introduction

#### 1.1 Overview

The health of Canadians and the factors that influence quality of life has been well documented in the literature (Federal, Provincial and Territorial Advisory Committee on Population Health. 1996: Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, 1997: Canadian Heart Health Research Group. 1992). Canadians as a whole have a high standard of health, but it is not shared equally by all sectors within society (Federal, Provincial and Territorial Advisory Committee on Population Health. 1996). For example, "men are more likely to die prematurely than women, largely as a result of heart disease, fatal unintentional injuries, cancer and suicide. While women live longer than men, they are more likely to suffer depression, stress overload (often due to efforts to balance work and family life), chronic conditions such as arthritis and allergies, and injuries and death resulting from family violence" (Federal, Provincial and Territorial Advisory Committee on Population Health, 1999, p. viii).

There is also evidence that the quality of health varies across occupations and that physical and psychological conditions of the workplace influences the health and wellbeing of working Canadians (Federal, Provincial and Territorial Advisory Committee on Population Health. 1999). Occupational health hazards and accidents result in a large number of deaths and injuries, particularly for those between 15 and 40 years of age (Clarke, 2000: Banister, Allen, Fadl, Bhakthan and Howard, 1988). Different occupations have higher rates of mortality and morbidity than others (Meng, 1991). To better understand these occupational variations there is a need to examine the health status, the health practices, and risk hazards of various occupational groups. This work examined these three aspects with respect to the health of police officers.

Police work is an occupation that has, historically, required that recruits be healthy. One early recruiting poster advertised for

... applicants between the ages of 22 and 40, active, able-bodied men of thoroughly sound constitution." (Recruiting Poster, Northwest Mounted Police, 1893)

Police forces today continue to require applicants to be healthy, but they no longer have gender. height or weight restrictions. The Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) is the largest police force in Canada. Despite this, there has been relatively little research carried out on the health of its members. The central objective of this work is to investigate the health of members of the RCMP, the extent of their exposure to occupational hazards, and the impact of the hazards on their health.

#### 1.2 Definitions of Health

#### 1.2.1 What is Health?

Our understanding of health, what makes people healthy and how we measure health has been evolving over the last century. Health is no longer viewed as simply the absence of disease, but has evolved into a more holistic inclusive concept. The classic World Health Organization's definition of health as a state of physical, mental and social well-being has been refined and extended. For the purposes of this work, the concept of health was defined as "a complete state of physical, mental, and social well-being: the ability to realize hopes and satisfy needs and to change or cope with the environment" (Federal, Provincial and Territorial Advisory Committee on Population Health, 1996). This definition is very broad. The challenge in research is to operationalize this definition so that we can examine changes and variations.

# 1.2.2 What Makes People Healthy?

In recent years, researchers have come to realize that there are no simple answers as to what makes people healthy. They have found that health is determined by a number of factors, such as gender, age, socio-economic status, occupation and even country of oriein.

The document Strategies for Population Health (1994) identifies a number of determinants which impact upon a person's ability to sustain a dynamic state of positive well-being. The main determinants identified are:

- Income and Social Status: Many studies show that health status improves at
  each step up the income and social hierarchy. As well, societies which are
  reasonably prosperous and have an equitable distribution of wealth have the
  healthiest populations, regardless of the amount they spend on health care.
- Social Support Networks: Support from families, friends and communities is associated with better health.

- 3) Education: Health status improves with level of education, including self-ratings of positive health or indicators of poor health such as activity limitation or lost work days. Education increases opportunities for income and job security, and equips people with a sense of control over life circumstances key factors that influence health.
- 4) Physical Environment: Physical factors in the natural environment such as air, water and soil quality are key influences on health. Factors in the human-built environment such as housing, workplace safety, community and road design are also important influences.
- 5) Biology and Genetic Endowment: The genetic endowment of the individual, the functions of various body systems, and the processes of development and aging are fundamental determinants of health. Biological differences in sex, and socially constructed gender, influence health on an individual and population basis.
- 6) Personal Health Practices and Coping Skills: Social environments that enable and support healthy choices and lifestyles, as well as peoples knowledge, intentions, behaviours and coping skills for dealing with life in healthy ways, are key influences on health.
- Health Services: Health services, particularly those designed to maintain and promote health and prevent disease, contribute to individual and population health
- 8) Employment and Working Conditions: Those with more control over their work circumstances and less stress related demends of the job are healthier. Workplace hazards and injuries are significant causes of health problems. And unemployment is associated with poorer health." (Federal, Provincial and Territorial Advisory Committee on Popelation Health, 1994, pp. 2-3)

As can be seen, identifying specifically why an individual or society is unhealthy can be complex. An important starting point is establishing meaningful measures of

health.

#### 1.2.3 How Do We Measure Health?

According to this new conceptual approach, since health is no longer viewed as simply the absence of disease, there would need to be more to evaluating health status than just measuring morbidity and mortality. Raeburn and Rootman (1989) addressed these challenges of measuring health given the changes in the way health is now viewed. They argue that there is a "surprising lack of correlation between hard health measures such as disability or illness and self-reported health and well-being... and that the role of subjective measures will be of increasing importance if justice is to be done to the broad new multidimensional approach to health heralded by the Ottawa Charter" (p. 387). As a result, much of their work has been focussed on finding new ways to operationalize this new vision.

In an effort to make the new concept of health more useful as an analytical tool, Raeburn and Rootman have put forth an "expanded health field concept" (Figure 1.2.1), for the purposes of discussion and modification. It provides a template for measuring health based on the new paradigm (Raeburn and Rootman. 1989 p. 390). On the input side is the determinants of health, which replace the old health field concept. On the output side is four measurable health outputs: 1) morbidity/mortality - traditional negative and medical-model measures; 2) positive health indicators - measures of good health, fitness or mental and physical well-being (respiratory capacity, mental vigilance and locomotor agility); 3) subjective perceptions - peoples subjective appraisals of their physical, mental, social well-being well-being, personal health status, satisfaction with life and spiritual fulfilment; and 4) functional capacity/coping - overall energy level, capacity, coping ability and stamina with which people deal effectively with the demands of everyday life. This model will be utilized to measure health in this thesis.

Health Field Determinants of Health 1. Income and social status 2. Social support networks Measurable Health Outputs 3. Education 1. Morbidity/mortality 4. Physical environments 2. Positive health indicators 5. Biology and genetic endowment 3. Subjective perceptions 6. Personal health practices and coping skills 4. Functional capacity 7. Health services 8. Employment and working conditions

Figure 1.2.1: An Expanded Health Field Concept

Source: adapted from Raeburn & Rootman, 1989.

# 1.3 What is Occupational Health?

Employment and working conditions are important determinants of health.

Occupational health is that field of public health dedicated to understanding how people deal with their work and working environment, both physically and mentally and the impact of work on workers' health. "The workplace has received increasing attention from health professionals, workers, employers, and the government, due to: concern about rising health care costs; an increased understanding of the relationship between behaviour, working conditions, and health; and the fact that many people spend more time at work than they do at home" (Winett, Kine and Alman, 1989).

Occupational health focuses directly on how the working environment impacts on health and on identifying ways for reducing and even eliminating occupational health risks. It is aimed at:

the promotion and maintenance of the highest degree of physical, mental and social well-being of workers in all occupations: the prevention among workers of departures from health caused by their working conditions: the protection of workers in their employment from risks resulting from factors adverse to health: the placing and maintenance of the worker in an occupational environment adapted to his physiological and psychological ability and, to summarize: the adaptation of work to man and of each man to his job (Parmeggiani, 1981, p. 1491).

Recognizing the importance of early detection, anticipating problems, changing behaviours, and the need for ongoing health monitoring, many employers today have in place occupational health and safety programs. These provide a variety of services that are offered by various experts or teams of experts with different specialties. For example, a comprehensive occupational health and safety program might include the formulation and implementation of policy required for identifying and dealing with health and safety problems normally associated with a particular occupation. Such programs are designed to identify and address health risks before they become a problem.

### 1.3.1 Are There Variations in Health Between Occupations?

Certain occupations are more unhealthy than others. Meng (1991) reports that there are approximately 1.000 job-related deaths a year in Canada and that the most dangerous jobs are found in the forestry, mining, and construction occupations. Other hazardous occupations that were worth noting were air pilots, fishers, and deck crews and officers on ships.

Although the relationship between work and illness has been generally recognized, it is often difficult to link specific health problems to work-related conditions, because of long latency periods between exposure and ill health, overlap between work- and non-work-related causes of illness, and inadequate reporting systems (Winett, et al., p. 286-7). There is a need to carry out research on specific occupational groups to determine the state of health of those groups and any occupational hazards that may be impacting on their quality of life.

### 1.3.2 Occupational Determinants of Health

Polanyi, et al (1996) have identified a number of external and internal factors which contribute to workplace injuries and illness (Table 1.3.1). The external influences

include increased competition and the need to increase productivity. flexibility and innovation in a global economy. This has resulted in two opposing trends occurring in the workplace: 1) firms investing in workers: 2) and, the deterioration of work conditions with the result being good and bad effects on workers' health. The internal influences include organizational structure and environment, task requirements and individual lifestyle. For further improvements in working conditions, employers will need to develop strategies that address both these external and internal influences.

Table 1.3.1: Determinants of Health in the Workplace

Level of Determinant	Sub-level of determinant	Factors related to worker health	
External/societal	Sectoral National/global	Structure of business, technology Government labour and economic policies, economic competition, technological change	
Organizational structure and environment	Terms of employment	Salary, hourly pay or pay by piecework (benefits, shiftwork), safety incentives for managers and employees, job security (and turnover)	
	Decision making structures Approach to health and safety	Employee participation in decision making  Commitment to health and safety factors (structure, support of management)	
	Physical environment On-site facilities	Lighting, noise level, toxic exposures, air quality, etc. Fitness, daycare	
Task requirements	Physical and psychosocial demands	Job content (lifting, turning, repetitive movements), equipment used, pace and load of work, job control, range of skills used, social support	
Individual lifestyle	Basic characteristics	Age, gender, marital status, health and injury history, smoking, obesity, socioeconomic status, education, language ability	
	Non work demands Personal resources	Child care and elder care needs Education, coping skills, family and social support	

Source: Polanyi, et al. (1996)

### 1.4 Police Health

Law enforcement is an occupation that, by its very nature, would appear to pose a threat to the health of police officers. Police officers in carrying out their duties are often exposed to a variety of circumstances and influences that could impact negatively on both physical and psychological well-being. These contextual factors that could threaten health status includes witnessing fatal accidents: restraining agitated prisoners; or exposures to individuals infected with hepatitis. HIV or other diseases: exposure to lead. chemicals and isotopes: and so on (Trottier and Brown, 1994). Other potential occupational risks associated with police work include: working long hours and shiftwork, poor diets while on duty, being stationed in isolated communities away from family and friends, or frequent transfers. Is this appearance of a threat to health by police work real or imaginary?

A search of both Medline and Healthstar was carried out on police health and workplace hazards. To date, the research that has been done in this area suggests that there is a link between police work and higher rates of mortality, cardiovascular disease, cardiac risk factors and cancer (Trottier and Brown, 1994, 1995; Bandaranayake, Salmond and Tobias, 1991; Souter, van Netten and Brands, 1992; Violanti, Vena and Marshall, 1986; Franke, Collins and Hinz, 1998). This preliminary research also indicates that a variety of other physical and psychological conditions may be associated with police work. Yet, as Trottier and Brown (1995) acknowledge, unlike other

occupations where a specific association can be directly traced between an exposure or an action and specific pathology, the link between police work and disease is more problematic. This helps to explain the lack of research in this area and the need to develop new ways for addressing such research problems.

### 1.4.1 Mortality

Violanti. Vena and Petralia (1998), found in their updated cohort study of 2.693 male police officers who worked a minimum of five years for the city of Buffalo. New York, all-cause deaths for police officers showed a significantly higher rate of mortality than expected in the general U.S. white male population (standardized mortality ratio [SMR] = 110). It was highest for the 10- to 19-year range of employment and Violanti, et al. hypothesized that this could be due to stressful traumatic events in police work.

Demers. Heyer and Rosenstock (1992) compared police and firefighters in three cities in the United States and found police to have higher rates for all causes of death combined. An overall increased rate of suicide was noted in the police, with the highest SMRs recorded for officers over the age of 65 (SMR = 301), officers with at least 30 years of service since first employment (SMR = 318), and officers with more than 30 years of employment (SMR = 318).

Violanti et al. (1986) in their Buffalo police study found a higher than expected mortality rate for all malignant neoplasms (SMR = 110), cancer of the esophagus (SMR = 213), cancer of the kidney (SMR = 208), Hodekin's disease (SMR = 313), cirrhosis of the liver (SMR = 150), and suicide (SMR = 153). Feuer and Rosenman (1986) reported that police and firefighters in New Jersey had significant increased proportionate mortality ratios (PMRs) for arteriosclerotic heart disease, digestive and skin cancers, and skin diseases.

Other studies do not claim that the overall mortality of police officers is different from the general population, but certain diseases, such as cardiovascular mortality, may be occupationally related (Sardinas, Miller and Hansen, 1986; Feur and Rosenman, 1986). In addition, there is evidence that the association may vary across jurisdictions. Pyorala, Savolainen, Lehtovirta, Punsar and Siltanen (1979) found in their prospective study of 867 Helsinki policemen aged 40-59 that the ten-year mortality rate was similar to that of the Finnish male population.

#### 1.4.2 Morbidity

In their review of the literature, Brown and Trottier (1995) reported that some aspects of police work may increase the risk of sudden cardiac death and that the risk of a sudden cardiac event at a critical moment was 1 per 25 years in 500 police officers. In a prospective study among policemen in Helsinki, the researchers found that in a 10-year follow-up period, 10% of the study participants had developed coronary heart disease (Nirkko, Lauroma, Siltanen, Tuominen and Vanhala, 1982). Franke et al. (1998) in a recent study compared the self-reported incidence of cardiovascular disease among 232 male retired law enforcement officers, over 55 years of age, from the lowa Department of

Public Safety with 817 male lowans of similar age and found that employment as a law enforcement officer was associated with increased cardiovascular disease morbidity. However, they found in an earlier study that the 10-year probability of developing coronary heart disease (CHD) in 246 male lowa law enforcement personnel from 30-64 years of age was similar to the Framingham population (Franke, Cox, Schultz and Anderson, 1997). Sparrow, Thomas and Weiss (1983) in a normative aging study which included 220 police officers who were followed over 10 years, found that the police officers relative to non-police officers had an adjusted risk ratio (odds ratio) of 1.4 (95% confidence interval = 0.7-2.4) for coronary heart disease and 1.0 (95% confidence interval = 0.4-2.4) for myocardial infraction which showed the differences between occupational groups were not significant.

In their review of the literature, Brown and Trottier (1995) found the risk of digestive tract cancers, such as cancer of the oesophagus, cancer of the stomach and cancer of the large bowel are reported to be elevated for police officers. Violanti, et al. (1998) research on an updated retrospective cohort morbidity study of male police officers over 40 years found increased rates of esophageal cancer, colon cancer. Hodgkin's disease, bladder cancer and leukemia. They also referred to an unpublished study that there was a 68% increased probability for all-cause cancer with increased exposure time to police radar (OR = 1.98, P <0.05) (Violanti, et al., 1998). Davis and

Mostifi (1993) found a significant increased rate for testicular cancer among police officers who reported use of hand-held radar units inside of the police vehicle.

Low back pain is a common musculo-skeletal problem among the general population. Despite a lifetime prevalence rate of between 50% and 80%, we still know little about the causal factors involved (Brown, et al., 1995; Burton, et al., 1996; Devo. 1998). Brown et al. (1998), in a study on back pain in a Canadian police force, found that self-reported back pain among 805 police officers was high. They revealed that the incidence of chronic or recurring low back pain was 55% and the prevalence was 42%, both of which are comparable to the general population. Brown et al. found that wearing a duty belt and/or driving a police vehicle did not increase the prevalence of low back pain. However, Burton et al. (1996) in a study comparing 1508 Royal Ulster Constabulary with 377 Greater Manchester Police reported that an increased risk of firstonset of low back trouble was associated with wearing heavy body armor and prolonged work in vehicles. Finkelstein (1995), on the other hand, in a study comparing 129 fire fighters to 346 police officers from a municipality in Ontario found a lifetime prevalence of lower back pain of 33% for police officers compared with 42% for firefighters. The author also found that back problems were associated with length of employment, cigarette smoking and parenthood.

Finally, infectious diseases that were not considered a health hazard just 10 years ago, that may be associated with police work are Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS), hepatitis and tuberculosis (TB) (Trottier and Brown, 1995).

## 1.4.3 Individual Lifestyle Factors

Franke et al. (1998) found in their study of retired Iowa law enforcement officers that the prevalence of an elevated body mass index (\$27.8 kg/m) was higher than the general population. In their study of Iowa law enforcement officers between the ages of 30 to 64. Franke et al. (1997) found an age-associated increase in body fat which they felt may suggest that officers tend to become fatter, sooner, than the general population.

Pyorala, et al. (1998) found that hyperinsulinemia was associated with the risk of a stroke in Helsinki policemen during the 22 year follow-up, but not independently of other risk factors, particularly upper body obesity.

In a study conducted on the prevalence of lifestyle behaviours (overweight, smoking, not exercising, excessive drinking and stress symptoms) among 852 New South Wales police. Richmond et al. (1998) found that 83% of the police had at least one unhealthy lifestyle behaviour and 19% had 3-5 unhealthy factors. Williams et al. (1987) also found that police officers had a higher prevalence of risk factors: 22% were smokers. 76% had elevated cholesterol, 26% had elevated triglycerides, 16% had elevated blood pressure, and 60% had elevated body fat.

However, these researchers discovered that increased fitness was associated with reduced risk. On the other hand, Franke and Anderson (1994) found that exercise reduced the risk factors for CHD only in law enforcement officers >48 years of age.

Superko, et al. (1988) reported that the number of CHD events among California highway patrol personnel had been rising at a rate of 39.2% per year for four years. After implementation of a Health and Physical Performance Program (HPPP) the incidence of CHD decreased by about 11.4% per year. In the study of 1326 Helsinki Policemen.

Pyorala, et al. (1979) found their levels of risk factors were similar to that of the general Finnish male population.

#### 1.4.4 Workplace Hazards

"In 1996, there were more than 377,000 time-loss work injuries in Canada, a rate of 27.6 injuries for every 1,000 workers. Men had more than two and a half times as many work injuries as women" (Statistical Report on the Health of Canadians, p. 246). Police officers are especially at risk of receiving an injury at work resulting from physical confrontation, motor vehicle accidents, falls, lifting and so on. Evans (1994) in his study of the South Wales police force found that 51 percent of soft tissue injuries were a result of assaults from struggling with offenders, punches, kicks, head butts, bites, etc. and that no part of the body was spared.

While police officers are subjected to assaults during the course of operational police work, they are also exposed to other traumatic incidents which could negatively impact on their physical and psychological well-being. Examples of such incidents include: witnessing or investigating a violent crime or traffic accident; experiencing violence and abuse from the public: or using deadly force. As a result of such experiences, police officers may experience posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD).

Carlier et al. (1997) found a prevalence rate of 7% of PTSD in their sample of 218 Dutch police officers, which corresponded to the current PTSD prevalence rates for trauma victims in general, crime victims and other emergency service personnel.

Mearns and Mauch (1998) found in their study of 56 police officers from two small departments in a large metropolitan area that high levels of job stress were associated with greater physical and emotional distress. In a study of undercover policing, Macleod (1995) reported that 16% of the undercover agents deployed suffered major psychological or psychiatric sequella. Violanti and Aron (1994) in a study ranking police stressors reported that of the top 20 ranked stressors, seven were organizational/ administrative and seven were inherent in police functions. The two top-ranked stressors were killing someone in the line of duty and experiencing a fellow officer being killed. The highest ranked organizational stress was shift work followed by inadequate support of the department and incompatible patrol partner.

Overtime and shiftwork are two conditions associated with cardiovascular disease.

Type II diabetes and obesity (Nakamura et al., 1998). Ely (1995) found that rotating shift police officers reported higher levels of stress and disliked working the rotating shift. He

also found that compared to a control population, the police officers' plasma levels and diastolic blood pressure were elevated. The rotating shift police officers had even higher levels of plasma (802pg/ml) and diastolic blood pressure (90 mmhg). Phillips. et al. (1991) found in their study that when the Lexington Police Department changed from rotating shifts to permanent shifts, the patrol officers reported improved sleep quality. sleep hygiene and psychologic well-being.

#### 1.4.5 Measuring Police Health

The research on police health has focussed primarily on limited measures of mortality, morbidity and lifestyle. The broader holistic definition of health and the multiple determinants of health have not been addressed in the research. The determinants of workplace health described by Polanyi (1996) in Table 1.3.1 above include individual lifestyle, physical work environment, and physical and psychosocial demands. If we integrate Raeburn and Rootman's model from Figure 1.2.1 with Polanyi's workplace health determinants we can develop a new framework that is a capable of generating new critical insights on a specialized occupational group, police (Figure 1.4.1). The proposed research aims to make use of these more extensive measures.

Figure 1.4.1: Model for Measuring Police Health

#### Determinants of Police Health

# Physical and Psychosocial Demands

- job content (physical altercations, injuries, near misses, sitting)
- equipment used (driving a police car, using computer, wearing duty belt and
- vest)
   shift work, working long hours
- social support
- traumatizing events

# Physical Environment

- loud noises (firearms, sirens, airplanes,
- ATVs, snowmobiles)
   toxic exposures
- toxic exposures
- air/water quality
   lighting

### Individual Lifestyle

- age, gender, marital status, rank, vears of service
- education
- coping skills
- family and social support
   financial concerns
- genetic traits
   living environment

# Measurable Health Outcomes

# Morbidity/mortality

- coronary heart disease
- obesity
- post traumatic stress syndrome - hearing loss

### Negative Health Indicators

- increased blood pressure
- increased cholesterol level
  - physical inactivity
- smoking - unhealthy eating

#### Positive Health Indicators - good health, fitness

- mental and physical well-being

# Psychological Symptoms

 Psychological Symptoms
 subjective appraisal of physical, mental, social and overall conditions

# Functional Capacity - medical profile

#### 1.5 RCMP

#### 1.5.1 "R" Division, RCMP

The RCMP is the federal police force of Canada and provides police services under the terms of the policing agreements to all provinces (except Ontario and Quebec). Yukon, Northwest Territories and Nunavut, and under separate municipal policing agreements to 191 municipalities. The Force is divided into 14 divisions, with Headquarters, Ottawa. Each division is managed by a Commanding Officer and is alphabetically designated. There are 707 detachments which range from 1 to more than 250 personnel. The detachment is the basic operational unit of the Force, and detachment personnel perform the full range of police duties (Public Affairs and Information Directorate of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, 1996).

"B" Division refers to the province of Newfoundland and Labrador. It is responsible for contract and federal policing in the province. The Division has 42 detachments located in communities throughout Newfoundland and Labrador and employees 362 regular members (1999). It has a headquarters building located in St. John's. Members are transferred between detachments, units and other Divisions on a regular basis (every two years for isolated postings). Every detachment has a different number of employees depending on the size of the area the RCMP is responsible for policing. Depending on their rank, section and detachment size and location, the members undertake a variety of policing activities, shift schedules and workloads. As a

result, the stresses and demands will change as members are transferred from one posting to another

#### 1.5.2 Health Status

The RCMP employs approximately 15,000 police officers or regular members 
(RM) throughout Canada. The health records available on this large occupational cohort 
provide the opportunity for research to be undertaken on a variety of health related topics. 
such as health promotion; stress; suicide; back pain; physical ability, fitness and work; 
vision standards; and cardiac risks. To date, this research has been limited. The 
following is a summary of the main research findings.

The Chief Actuary of the Government of Canada conducts an evaluation of mortality rates of the RCMP and public servants' pension plans every three years and compares them to the Canadian rates published by Statistics Canada. In 1996, the RCMP had lower mortality rates at all ages than either the public servants or the Canadian population. The derived life expectancies for the RCMP were also greater. For example, a 60-year-old male RCMP could expect to live another 22.3 years, which is 2.2 years longer than a public servant and 2.7 years longer than the average Canadian male (Chief Actuary of the Government of Canada, 1996).

Research carried out by Brown, et al. (1998) on back pain in the RCMP found that the prevalence of chronic or recurring low back pain was 55%, which was comparable to the general population. The study also determined the following about members (in the past year): 10% had experienced an accident; 49% had been exposed to a disturbing crime or accident; 11% had been involved in a shooting; 49% had been involved in a physical confrontation/fight/ altercation; and 96% had a good working relationship with their supervisor.

Lee and Stoneham (1993) carried out a survey of work stress in the RCMP. They found that the most frequent reasons for experiencing stress were excessive paperwork among all ranks; insufficient manpower to adequately handle a job for both commissioned officers and non-commissioned officers: and risks associated with working alone among constables.

Trottier, et al. (1994) found that there was a significant difference in the prevalence of respiratory symptoms among RCMP doing forensic identification work when compared to a matched control group. They also found that there was 10% more frequent occurrence of hav fever in the control group.

While research on specific areas of RCMP health has been undertaken there has been limited research on the impact of police work on the overall health status of RCMP members.

#### 1.5.3 Periodic Health Assessment

As one might expect, the RCMP not only ensures the hiring of individuals who are healthy and fit for duty, but members are provided with extensive health care throughout their careers. Applicants applying to the RCMP must pass a written exam. pass a security clearance, meet standard occupational health requirements that include physical and psychological evaluations. They must also pass a Physical Abilities Readiness Evaluation (PARE). PARE is a timed standardized evaluation of a person's physical abilities to perform operational police work. Beginning in 1993, the RCMP has adopted a policy that requires members undergo a Periodic Health Assessment (PHA - Appendix 1) every two years. Members must also take PARE every two years in order to complete their medical profile. For officers engaged in special duties (eg. United Nations duty, underwater recovery, emergency response team, police dog service, prime ministers duty and forensic identification) more frequent and thorough assessments are required.

The PHA was specifically designed for police work and inquires about known stressors and risks associated with this occupation through a detailed questionnaire and assesses the physical health of the police officer through a physical examination. The PHA is performed by the RCMP Health Services Officer (HSO) or by a RCMP designated physician. The purpose of the PHA is to ensure that members are fit to perform the tasks of police work, thus protecting the safety of the public, and to ensure that the health of members is not at risk (Trottier and Brown, 1993). However, there has been no evaluation done on the effectiveness of the PHA.

The RCMP, to date, has not used the data collected from the PHA to its full potential. Trottier and Brown (1995) stated that the PHA would eventually be used to

monitor trends in the health of members (such as CHD risk factors or increases in infectious diseases) and thus health maintenance and health enhancement programs could be assessed for efficacy and efficiency. Research on stress and lower back pain have been carried out by Ottawa Health Services Directorate as a result of limited sick leave data analysis. Furthermore, Superko et al. (1988) concluded in their research that a valid job-related physical performance test, in conjunction with a health assessment and a remedial training program, could produce significant improvements in several health parameters; including systolic blood pressures (BP), resting heart rate (HR), physical fitness and CHD event rates. Further benefits could be derived from reduced medical disability, short- and long-term sick leave, and on-the-job injuries.

### 1.6 Objectives of Thesis

Workplaces and occupations have a variety of health hazards. Research indicates that policing has certain health hazards. However, this research is limited and has focused on limited measures of health. Further, very little research has been conducted on the health of Canada's police. The broad aim of this thesis is to use an expanded definition of health to describe the overall health of the police officers in one division of the RCMP, to describe the occupational hazards and to determine the association. More specifically, the aims are:

 To describe the prevalence of disease, such as obesity, loss of hearing, loss of vision, cardiovascular disease, cancer, suicide and posttraumatic stress syndrome.

- To describe the prevalence of negative health indicators, such as, poor nutritional practices, hypertension, elevated cholesterol, smoking and alcohol overuse. To compare these indicators to similar data available from the Newfoundland Heart Health survey.
- To describe the prevalence of positive health indicators and psychological symptoms of health.
- To describe the prevalence of occupational hazards, such as loud noises, chemicals, physical altercations, injuries, near miss, or psychologically traumatizing events.
- To assess the extent of change in morbidity, negative health indicators, positive health indicators, psychological symptoms and functional capacity after the introduction of the PHA.
- 6. To assess the link between occupational hazards and measures of health.
- To assess the usefulness of the information gathered from the PHAs as an aid in the primary prevention of disease, development of safety measures and promotion of healthy lifestyle habits.

It is hypothesized: a) that the prevalence of various measures of health status will

be higher in the RCMP than in the Newfoundland population; and b) that the exposures to occupational hazards is associated with increased risk of health problems.

## Chapter 2

# Methods

#### 2.1 Periodic Health Assessment Data Rose

The RCMP has been carrying out medicals called Periodic Health Assessments 
(PHA) on its members annually or every two years since 1993. The RCMP Health 
Services Directorate in Ottawa designed the assessment that includes a detailed health 
questionnaire, physical examination, vision and audiogram tests, urinalysis and blood 
tests (such as, cholesterol, gamma glutamyl transferase). It is also used as an opportunity 
for health education and health promotion with the member. Based on the outcomes of 
the assessment, the member is then assigned a Medical Profile devised to transmit 
information about duty limitations and restrictions to management in a manner that does 
not because confidential medical information.

The PHA is carried out by a RCMP designated physician and the Medical Profile is assigned by the Health Services Officer. The vision, audiogram, urinalysis and blood tests are carried out by a public health nurse, hospital or clinic and the results are sent to the Health Services Office of the Division.

The PHA is a nine-page document (Appendix 1) which contains 45 questions concerned with what occupational hazards and injuries the member has had over the one or two year period, their lifestyle and emotional health, signs of physical disease, personal stressors and family history. It also has areas for documentation of the physical examination results and the vision, hearing and blood tests. There are five general questions concerned with personal health and are not job related.

The RCMP developed a Health Services Information System (HSIS) for carrying out assessments of accident and sick leave reports, and for monitoring the PHAs for trends in health of the police officers. Unfortunately, throughout the RCMP, only the accident and sick leave data have been entered into the HSIS. Due to incompleteness of data and problems with data entry, this had not been kept up to date. However, a new computer program has now been designed for inputting this data, data collection problems have been addressed and the PHA is being redesigned.

For the purposes of this thesis, all the PHAs from "B" Division that were in the Health Services office during the data entry period, April 1999 to July 1999, were entered into the data base. All information contained in the PHAs was entered into the data base.

#### 2.2 Sample

The cohort consisted of 368 male and 46 female police officers from "B" Division of the RCMP whose medical files contained at least one Periodic Health Assessment (PHA). The number of Periodic Health Assessments (PHA) for each person ranged from one to six and covered the years 1994-1998. The total number of PHAs available for analysis was 918.

It should be noted that because the members are transferred within or between Divisions on a regular basis, the medical files in the Health Services offices vary from year to year. Also the number of PHAs on a member's medical file will vary because not all Divisions. "B" Division is an exception. have carried out PHAs on their members every two years. As a result, members' medical files may have contained no PHAs or only one.

### 2.3 Study Design

The sample was compared both cross-sectionally and longitudinally over a fiveyear period, 1994 to 1998. For the cross-sectional analysis, the earliest available PHA from each male and female member was chosen for analysis. The cross-sectional data was used to analyse the overall health status of the members. The earlier PHA available on each member was chosen so the data could be compared to the Newfoundland Heart Health database. The total sample for this analysis was 414.

The questions and answers on the PHA do not easily lend themselves to analysis or comparison to other populations. There was very little comparable data available from other police forces. However, it was possible to compare some of the PHA data with data from the Canadian Heart Health Database (CHHD) (1998).

The CHHD was collected from provincial heart health surveys carried out between 1986 and 1992 as part of the federal-provincial collaboration on the Canadian Heart Health Initiative (Canadian Heart Health Surveys Research Group, 1992). The CHHD data contains cardiovascular disease risk profiles on 266 variables for a representative sample of 18.689 individuals in the 10 Canadian provinces. The Newfoundland sample taken in 1986 of the CHHD used in this thesis was 858 males between the ages of 21 and 53. There were too few females in the RCMP sample to compare them with the females in the Newfoundland sample. Therefore, they were excluded from the comparative analysis. The variables used for comparison purposes were smoking, hypertension, elevated cholesterol, overweight and sedentary (inactive).

In the longitudinal analysis only the members who had received their PHA three times during the study period were analysed. Because the administration of the PHA was started in late 1993, there were some PHAs done in that year which were grouped with the 1994 year. As well, because data entry was started in April 1999 there were some PHAs from early 1999 that were grouped into 1998. The purpose of the longitudinal analysis was to determine if there was any change in the health status of the members over time. Therefore, by choosing members who had three PHAs done approximately every two years, allowed for a cohort who had been monitored over at least five years. The sample size was 118 which included six females. The females were retained in the sample because exclusion of them from the analysis did not affect the results.

Sex and age variables were used to look for significant differences in the measures of health within the cross-sectional population. Years of service and rank were excluded because there was a strong correlation between age and these two variables (years of service=930, and rank=,806). In the longitudinal sample, sex was not used as a factor because there were so few females. Age was not used because the number of members in the age categories changed between 1994 and 1998 (because the members changed age) therefore making comparisons unacceptable. Not all of the PHAs were fully completed. Therefore, the number of members (n) who answered each question varied.

#### 2.4 Measures of Health

The variables that were extracted from the PHA to use in measuring the health of the members can be classified into five categories:

- morbidity: diabetes, thyroid problems, prostrate/urinary infections, nervous system disorders, respiratory disease, cardiac disease, skin cancer, musculo-skeletal problems, allergies, obesity, and hearing loss;
- negative health indicators: hypertension, elevated cholesterol, physical inactivity, smoking, alcohol overuse and unhealthy eating;
- positive health indicators: good health, fitness, mental and physical wellbeing:
- psychological symptoms: psychological stressors;
- functional capacity: medical profile.

Table 2.4.1 provides a list of the measures of health and the variables utilized from the PHA for analysing each measure.

Table 2.4.1: Variables for Measuring Police Health

Variables	Question # from PHA		
Morbidity:			
<ul> <li>Diabetes, thyroid, chronic infection, prostate disease, urinary infection, nervous system disorders, respiratory disease, cardiac disease, skin cancer</li> </ul>	8, 9, 10, 14, 15, 16, 23		
<ul> <li>Back/joint problems</li> </ul>	17		
<ul> <li>Allergies</li> </ul>	41		
Obesity	Physical Examination: Use Height and		
Hearing loss	Weight to determine BMI		
Negative Health Indicators:			
Hypertension	Physical Examination: Use Systolic and Diastolic Blood Pressure		
<ul> <li>Elevated Cholesterol</li> </ul>	Blood Test Result: total cholesterol		
Obesity	Physical Examination: Use Height and Weight to determine BMI		
Physical Inactivity	18		
<ul> <li>Smoking</li> </ul>	11		
Alcohol Overuse	12		
Unhealthy Eating	27		
Positive Health Indicators:			
Lifestyle choices	19, 20, 21, 22		
Attitude about physical health	24		
Attitude about emotional health	25		
<ul> <li>Attitude about physical fitness</li> </ul>	26		
Psychological symptoms:			
Psychological well-being	5, 7, 8, 9, 13, 25, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 36, 37		
Functional Capacity	Medical Profile		

## 2.5 Occupational Hazards

The PHA enquires about the types of occupational hazards that the member has been exposed to during the one or two year period between PHAs. There are six questions that address a variety of hazards that the member might encounter, such as loud noises, chemical toxins or allergens, situations that may have or caused injury, psychologically traumatizing events and physical confrontations or physically demanding situations. Table 2.5.1 lists these hazards and the questions in the PHA that address them.

Table 2.5.1: Occupational Hazards Variables

Variable	Question # from PHA
Loud noises: airport, jet engines, helicopters, firing range	1
Chemical toxins or allergens	2
Injuries: punched, knocked out, bumped, involved in motor vehicle accident	3
Situations: where injury was likely, near miss	4
Psychologically traumatizing events: shooting incidents, violent incidents, discovery of dead bodies	5
Altercation: physical confrontation or physically demanding situation	6

#### 2.6 Data Analysis

For the purposes of this thesis, it was originally proposed that the PHAs in "B"

Division would be entered into the HSIS and then evaluated. However, once data entry
was began, it was determined very quickly that the HSIS was not suitable for any type of
data analysis and it was not possible to transfer the data to another statistical package.

Therefore, the data was entered into SPSS statistical package, version 7.0.

Descriptive statistics including frequencies and cross tabulations were used. The Pearson chi-squared statistic was used to determine the presence of associations both in the cross-sectional and longitudinal analysis. Bivariate correlations were employed to determine if there was a significant association between occupational hazards and measures of health. The level of significance used was p<0.05. If the significance of the test associated with a variable is not discussed in the text then it was not found to be statistically significant.

Data analysis included the following:

- Basic demographics of the sample.
- Prevalence of disease, such as obesity, loss of hearing, loss of vision. cardiovascular disease, cancer, suicide and posttraumatic stress syndrome.
- Prevalence of negative health indicators, such as poor nutritional practices, hypertension, elevated cholesterol, smoking and alcohol overuse. Comparison of negative health indicators with similar data available from the Newfoundland Heart Health survey.
- 4. Prevalence of positive health indicators and psychological symptoms of health.

- Prevalence of occupational hazards, such as loud noises, chemicals, physical altercations, injuries, near miss, or psychologically traumatizing events.
- Change in measures of health between 1994 and 1998.
- Association between occupational hazards and measures of health.

The data analysis was used to determine whether the prevalence of various measures of health status was higher or lower in the RCMP than in the Newfoundland population: and if the exposures to certain occupational hazards increased the risk of health problems. Based on the data, recommendations were made on the usefulness of the information gathered from the PHAs in the development of programs for the primary prevention of disease, safety and promotion of healthy lifestyles.

## 2.7 Ethical Review

This study was reviewed and approval was granted by the Memorial University of Newfoundland, Faculty of Medicine, Human Investigation Committee prior to beginning data entry (see HIC approval, Appendix 2). No personal identifiers were used in the data entry and anonymity of PHAs was assured and maintained at all times.

#### Chapter 3

## Results

## 3.1 Demographics

The demographics available from the PHA on the members were age, years of service and rank. The age range classification used in the analysis was £30 years of age: between 31-40 years of age; and 241 years of age. This classification was chosen so the data could be compared with other RCMP research. The ages ranged from 21 to 53 years with a mean of 37 years. The regular members have a promotional system that is broken down according to rank. The starting level is Constable and moves onto Corporal.

Sargent. Staff Sargent and Officer levels. Approximately 60% of the sample were

Constables and a similar proportion had been in the RCMP for 10 years or more. Table 3.1.1 provides a breakdown of the demographics.

Table 3.1.2 shows the descriptive statistics of the physical characteristics and blood work of the population sample.

Table 3.1.1: Demographics of the RCMP Sample

Demographic	Number (%) n = 414		
Age:			
<ul> <li>≤30 years of age</li> </ul>	101 (24.4)		
<ul> <li>between 31-40 years of age</li> </ul>	168 (40.6)		
<ul> <li>≥41 years of age</li> </ul>	145 (35.0)		
mean age	37		
<ul> <li>youngest</li> </ul>	21		
<ul> <li>oldest</li> </ul>	53		
Rank			
Constable	249 (60.2)		
<ul> <li>Corporal</li> </ul>	80 (19.3)		
Sargent	56 (13.5)		
Staff Sargent	25 (6.0)		
<ul> <li>Officer</li> </ul>	4 (1.0)		
Years of Service			
<ul> <li>0-9 years</li> </ul>	163 (39.4)		
<ul> <li>10-19 years</li> </ul>	105 (25.4)		
<ul> <li>≥20 years</li> </ul>	146 (35.3)		

Table 3.1.2: Physical Characteristics and Blood Work of the RCMP Sample

Physical Characteristic	n=414	Min.	Max.	Mean ±s.d
Heart Rate (b/min)	343	46	100	69.6±8.3
Height (m)	407	1.4	2.0	1.8±7.3
Weight (kg)	408	55.0	159.0	89.0±13.9
Respiration Rate (b/min)	275	10	80	17.6±5.1
ВМІ	406	20.0	59.5	28.0±3.8
Cholesterol	334	2.57	9.7	5.3±1.0
GGT	281	4	336	30.71±33.9
Systolic Blood Pressure	404	80	190	121.5±12.7
Diastolic Blood Pressure	403	45	110	78.3±8.4

## 3.2 Indicators for Morbidity

A number of questions on the PHA provide the designated physician with an indicator for the presence or absence of disease. The diseases screened for are: diabetes, thyroid/chronic infection, prostrate disease/urinary infection, nervous system disorders, respiratory disease, cardiac disease, skin cancer, musculoskeletal problems, allergies, obesity, and hearing loss. A physical examination and laboratory work are also used to evaluate the presence of disease. The results that are presented in Table 3.2.1 (for the cross-sectional sample) and 3.2.2 (for the longitudinal sample) are based on the disease indicator questions asked in the PHA, weight and height measurements taken during the physical exam and a hearing evaluation.

Table 3.2.1 describes the overall rates of the various reported indicators for health problems as well as age and sex differences. Fifty-seven percent of the cohort had a BMI  $\geq$ 27 and could be labelled as obese: 35% reported that they had a change (increase) in weight (an indicator for diabetes): 33% reported they had musculoskeletal problems: while 31% reported having asthma or allergies. Significantly more of the older members reported musculoskeletal problems ( $\chi^2$ =19.169, df=2, p=0.0005), were obese ( $\chi^2$ =14.496, df=2, p=0.001) and had a hearing loss ( $\chi^2$ =22.394, df=2, p=0.0005). Conversely, significantly fewer of the older members reported allergies or asthma ( $\chi^2$ =27.864, df=2, p=0.020). When looking at sex differences, significantly more females reported a change in their energy levels ( $\chi^2$ =4.604, df=1, p=0.032) and having allergies or asthma

 $(\chi^2=9.259, df=1, p=0.002)$ . These were particularly pronounced among the younger women. Significantly more males were obese  $(\chi^2=14.496, df=2, p=0.001)$  and this was particularly pronounced among the older men.

The longitudinal data in Table 3.2.2 shows the changes in the indicators for morbidity between 1994 and 1998. Musculoskeletal, allergies and obesity increased during this period by 5% points, 3% points and 9% points respectively. Hearing loss increased in the cross-sectional cohort by 9 percentage points between 1994 and 1998. However, the only significant change was in reported change in obesity which increased by 15% points (x2\*=6.376, df=1, p=0.012).

Correlations between the indicators for morbidity are shown in Table 3.2.3. All indicators for morbidity had statistically significant associations with a least one other indicator for morbidity. However, these correlations were mostly small. The strongest positive associations were between: change in energy level and change in weight (r=.252): change in energy level and difficulty or change in urinating (r=.259). The strongest negative associations were between joint or back problems and frequent headaches (r=-224).

Table 3.2.1: Percentage of Population With Indicators for Morbidity by Sex and Age

Indicators for Disease	Sex	Age			Total
(PHA Question)	(n)	≤30 % (n)	31-40 % (n)	≥41 %(n)	% (n)
Change in weight or waist	M (125)	25.6	43.2	31.2	34.2 (365)
size (indicator for diabetes/psychological -	F (19)	57.9	21.1	21.1	38.8 (49)
Q8)	Total	42.6 (101)	34.5 (168)	29.7 (145)	34.8 (414)
Change in energy level	M (64)	26.6	40.6	32.8	17.7 (361)
(indicator for thyroid, chronic infection - Q9)	F (15)	80.0	20.0	0	38.8 (49)
	Total	28.7 (101)	17.4 (167)	14.8 (142)	19.3 (410)
Difficulty or change in urinating (indicator for diabetes - Q10)	M (24)	16.7	37.5	45.8	6.6 (362)
	F (4)	75.0	0	25.0	8.2 (49)
	Total	6.9 (101)	5.4 (167)	8.4 (143)	6.8 (411)
Frequent headaches, vision changes, balance	M (50)	8.0	30.0	62.0	13.8 (362)
problems, etc. (indicator	F (9)	66.7	33.3	0	18.4 (49)
for nervous system disorders - Q14)	Total	9.9 (101)	10.8 (167)	21.7 (143)	14.4 (411)
Shortness of breath,	M (14)	14.3	28.6	57.1	3.8 (364)
cough, wheezing, etc. (indicator for respiratory	F (5)	60.0	40.0	0	10.2 (49)
disease - Q15)	Total	5.0 (100)	3.6 (168)	5.5 (145)	4.6 (413)
Pain, pressure or tightness	M (27)	14.8	40.7	44.4	7.5 (360)
in chest, neck, arm jaw, etc. (indicator cardiac	F (7)	42.9	57.1	0	14.6 (48)
disease - Q16)	Total	7.1 (99)	9.0 (167)	8.5 (142)	8.3 (408)
Change in mole or skin	M (33)	18.2	39.4	42.4	9.2 (359)
changes or persistent sore (indicator for skin cancer -	F (5)	80.0	20.0	0	10.4 (48)
Q23)	Total	10.1 (99)	8.4 (166)	9.9 (142)	9.3 (407)

Indicators for Disease	Sex		Age			
(PHA Question)	(n)	≤30 % (n)	31-40 % (n)	≥41 % (n)	% (n)	
Joint or back problems,	M (120)	8.3	40.8	50.8	33.1 (363)	
muscle weakness, etc. (indicator for	F (15)	46.7	40.0	13.3	30.6 (49)	
musculoskeletal - Q17)	Total	17.0(100)	32.7 (168)	43.8 (144)	32.8 (412)	
Allergies (Q41)	M (101)	24.8	43.6	31.7	28.1 (360)	
	F (23)	60.9	30.4	8.7	50.0 (46)	
	Total	40.6 (96)	30.7 (166)	23.6 (144)	30.5 (406)	
Obesity (BMI≥27)	M (216)	14.4	44.0	41.7	60.2 (359)	
	F (16)	56.3	31.3	12.5	34.0 (47)	
	Total	40.8 (98)	60.0 (165)	64.3 (143)	57.1 (406)	
Hearing Loss	M (84)	9.5	34.5	56.0	23.0 (364)	
	F (7)	14.3	57.1	28.6	14.3 (49)	
	Total	8.9 (101)	19.6 (168)	33.8 (145)	22.0 (414)	

Table 3.2.2: Percentage (%) of the Population Who Had a PHA During the Years 1994 and 1998 with Indicators of Morbidity

Indicators for Disease (PHA Question)	Year	Total % (n)
Change in weight or waist size (indicator for	1994	37.3 (118)
diabetes/psychological - Q8)	1998	22.2 (117)
Change in energy level (indicator for thyroid,	1994	17.8 (118)
chronic infection - Q9)	1998	13.0 (115)
Difficulty or change in urinating (indicator for	1994	9.4 (117)
diabetes - Q10)	1998	4.2 (118)
Frequent headaches, vision changes, balance	1994	13.6 (118)
problems, etc. (indicator for nervous system disorders - Q14)	1998	16.9 (118)
Shortness of breath, cough, wheezing, etc.	1994	3.4 (114)
(indicator for respiratory disease - Q15)	1998	2.5 (118)
Pain, pressure or tightness in chest, neck, arm jaw.	1994	6.8 (118)
etc. (indicator cardiac disease - Q16)	1998	9.6 (115)
Change in mole or skin changes or persistent sore	1994	8.6 (116)
(indicator for skin cancer - Q23)	1998	13.8 (116)
Joint or back problems, muscle weakness, etc.	1994	31.4 (118)
(indicator for musculoskeletal - Q17)	1998	36.2 (116)
Allergies (Q41)	1994	25.0 (116)
	1998	27.6 (116)
Obesity (≥27)	1994	54.7 (117)
	1998	63.6 (110)
Hearing Loss	1994	25.4 (118)
	1998	34.7 (118)

	Indicators for Morbidity	-	c;	3.	4	5.	.9	7.	8.	6	10.
2	Change in weight or waist size (indicator for diabetes/psych - Q8)										
7	Change in energy level (indicator for thyroid, chronic infection - Q9)	.252••									
e,	Difficulty or change in urinating (indicator for diabetes - Q10)	980.	.259**								
4	Frequent hendaches, vision changes, balance problems, etc. (indicator for nervous system disorders - Q14)	.082	.173••	980.							
s.	Shortness of breath, cough, wheezing, etc. (indicator for respiratory disease - Q15)	.035	.100•	.035	600						
9	Pain, pressure or tightness in chest, neck, arm jaw, etc. (indicator cardiac disease - Q16)	.040	.151••	.032	.052	.151.					
7.	<ol> <li>Change in mole or skin changes or persistent sore (indicator for skin cancer - Q23)</li> </ol>	880.	.164**	.052	.155••	.129••	.182**				

-.138••

.085

6

## 3.3 Negative Health Indicators

Tables 3.3.1 describes the prevalence of the following negative health indicators: hypertension, elevated cholesterol, obesity, smoking, physical inactivity, unhealthy eating and alcohol overuse. The two negative health indicators with the highest prevalence rates were elevated cholesterol (55%) and obesity (57%). Conversely, 21% of the cohort reported not participating in regular physical activity or sports and 9% said they did not eat a healthy diet. Alcohol overuse was reported in 4% of the population. The older members were significantly more likely to have high blood pressure ( $\chi^2$ =10.413, df=2, p=0.005), elevated cholesterol ( $\chi^2$ =23.691, df=2, p=0.0005) and obesity ( $\chi^2$ =14.496, df=2, p=0.001). There was no significant association between age and any of the other negative health indicators. The male members were significantly more likely than the females to have high blood pressure ( $\chi^2$ =4.758, df=1, p=0.029) and elevated cholesterol ( $\chi^2$ =10.109, df=1, p=0.001).

The distribution of risk factors for heart disease are shown in Table 3.3.2. The risk factors are broken down into major risk factors (smoking, high cholesterol ( $\geq$ 5.2), high blood pressure (140/90)) and other risk factors (physical inactivity and obesity). Only 19% of the population had no risk factors. Forty-two percent of the cohort had at least one major risk factor and 51% had at least one other risk factor. There were significantly more males than females with two major risk factors ( $\chi^2$ =5.342, df=1, p=0.021) and one or more other risk factors ( $\chi^2$ =7.262, df=1, p=0.007).

Table 3.3.3 shows the change in negative health indicators between 1994 and 1998. There was an increase in 1998 in both cholesterol (4%) and obesity (9%). However, neither were significant. Table 3.3.4 shows the change in distribution of risk factors between 1994 and 1998.

The prevalence data for male members was compared to similar data available from the Newfoundland Heart Health survey and is presented in Table 3.3.5. The RCMP had significantly higher rates of elevated cholesterol ( $\chi^2$ =23.636, df=1, p=0.0005) and obesity ( $\chi^2$ =17.420, df=1, p=0.0005) compared to the Newfoundland population. Significantly more of the RCMP were older males ( $\chi^2$ =271.3, df=2, p<0.0005) than the Newfoundland population which may account for these higher rates. However, the RCMP had significantly fewer smokers ( $\chi^2$ =37.217, df=1, p=0.0005), lower levels of hypertension ( $\chi^2$ =6.899, df=1, p=0.009) and fewer sedentary males ( $\chi^2$ =43.338, df=1, p=0.005). Table 3.2.6 shows the distribution of risk factors. The only significant difference in risk factors was that the RCMP had significantly more males with 1 other risk factor ( $\chi^2$ =7.861, df=1, p=0.005) compared to Newfoundland.

Table 3.3.7 shows the correlations between the negative health indicators. The most significant association, although small, was between obesity and high blood pressure and obesity and cholesterol (r=218).

Table 3.3.1: Percentage of Population With Negative Health Indicators by Sex and Age

Negative Health	Sex	Age			Total
Indicator (PHA Question)	(n)	≤30 % (n)	31-40 % (n)	≥41 % (n)	% (n)
High Blood Pressure	M (57)	17.5	28.1	54.4	16.0 (356)
(Sys/Dia ≥ 140/90) (Physical Exam)	F(2)	0.0	50.0	50.0	4.2 (48)
	Total	10.4 (96)	28.8 (164)	54.2 (144)	14.6 (404)
Elevated Cholesterol	M (57)	14.2	35.5	50.3	58.1 (291)
(≥5.2) (Blood Test)	F(2)	50.0	30.0	20.0	49.4 (34)
	Total	39.2 (74)	48.5 (130)	71.9 (121)	55.1 (325)
Obesity (BMI≥27) (Physical Exam)	M (216)	14.4	44.0	41.7	60.2 (359)
	F (16)	56.3	31.3	12.5	34.0 (47)
	Total	40.8 (98)	60.6 (165)	64.3 (143)	57.1 (406)
Smoking (Q11)	M (69)	13.0	47.8	39.1	19.1 (362)
	F (12)	50.0	25.0	25.0	24.5 (49)
	Total	15.0 (100)	21.6 (167)	20.8 (144)	19.7 (411)
Physical Inactivity	M (80)	18.8	43.8	37.5	22.0 (364)
(Q18)	F (8)	37.5	25.0	37.5	16.3 (49)
	Total	15.0 (100)	21.6 (168)	20.8 (145)	21.3 (413)
Unhealthy Eating	M (29)	13.8	34.5	51.7	7.9 (365)
(Q27)	F (7)	57.1	14.3	28.6	14.3 (49)
	Total	7.9 (101)	6.5 (168)	11.7 (145)	8.7 (414)
Alcohol Overuse	M (17)	11.8	29.4	58.8	4.7 (365)
(Q12)	F(1)	100.0	0.0	0.0	2.0 (49)
	Total	3.0 (101)	3.0 (168)	6.9 (145)	4.3 (414)

Table 3.3.2: Percentage of Population With Selected Risk Factors by Sex and Age

Risk Factors	Sex		Age		Total
	(n)	≤30 % (n)	31-40 % (n)	≥41 % (n)	% (n)
0 Risk Factors	M (60)	23.3	18.2	10.9	16.4 (365)
	F (18)	42.9	28.6	28.6	36.7 (49)
	Total	7.0 (29)	7.7 (32)	4.1 (17)	18.8 (414)
Major Risk Factors*	M (152)	42.5	40.3	42.8	41.6 (365)
! Risk Factor	F (20)	39.3	50.0	28.6	40.8 (49)
	Total	10.1(42)	18.6 (79)	10.1 (61)	41.5 (414)
2 Risk Factors	M (61)	8.2	12.3	26.1	16.7 (365)
	F (2)	0.0	0.0	4.1	4.1 (49)
	Total	1.4 (6)	4.6 (19)	9.2 (38)	15.2 (414)
3 Risk Factors	M (7)	0.0	1.9	2.9	1.9 (365)
	F (0)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0 (49)
	Total	0.0 (0)	0.7(3)	1.0 (4)	1.7 (414)
Other Risk Factors**	M (194)	41.1	55.8	56.5	53.2 (365)
1 Risk Factors	F (7)	35.7	35.7	14.3	32.7 (49)
	Total	9.7 (40)	22.0 (91)	19.1 (79)	50.8 (365)
2 Risk Factors	M (51)	11.0	14.3	15.2	14.0 (365)
	F (4)	3.6	7.1	28.6	8.2 (49)
	Total	2.2 (9)	5.6 (23)	5.6 (23)	13.3 (414)

<sup>\*</sup> Major Risk Factors: smoking, high cholesterol (≥5.2), high blood pressure (140/90)

<sup>\*\*</sup>Other Risk Factors: bmi (≥27), sedentary

Table 3.3.3: Percentage (%) of the Population Who Had a PHA During the Years 1994 and 1998 with Negative Health Indicators

Negative Health Indicators (PHA Question)	Year	Total % (n)
High Blood Pressure (Sys/Dia ≥ 140/90)	1994	14.5 (117)
(Physical Exam)	1998	12.8 (109)
Elevated Cholesterol (≥ 5.2)	1994	59.4 (96)
(Blood Test)	1998	63.0 (100)
Obesity (BMI≥27)	1994	54.7 (117)
(Physical Exam)	1998	63.6 (110)
Smoking	1994	14.5 (117)
(Q11)	1998	16.4 (116)
Physical Inactivity	1994	21.2 (118)
(Q18)	1998	15.4 (117)
Unhealthy Eating	1994	8.5 (118)
(Q27)	1998	6.8 (118)
Alcohol Overuse	1994	5.9 (118)
(Q12)	1998	2.5 (118)

Table 3.3.4: Percentage of the Population During the Years 1994 and 1998
With a Combination of Selected Risk Factors

Number of Risk Factors	Year	% of Population (n=118)
0 Risk Factors	1994	18.6
	1998	18.6
Major Risk Factors*	1994	41.5
1 Risk Factor	1998	53.4
2 Risk Factors	1994	15.3
	1998	12.7
3 Risk Factors	1994	1.7
	1998	0.8
Other Risk Factors**	1994	51.7
1 Risk Factors	1998	49.2
2 Risk Factors	1994	11.9
	1998	12.7

<sup>\*</sup>Major Risk Factors: smoking, high cholesterol (≥5.2), high blood pressure (140/90)

<sup>\*\*</sup>Other Risk Factors: BMI (≥27). sedentary

Table 3.3.5: Comparison of the Prevalence of Risk Factors for RCMP and the Newfoundland Population\*

Risk Factor		RCMP (n=368 males) Age			Newfoundland Population (n=858 males) Age			
	≤30	31-40	31-40 40+	Total	≤30	31-40	40+	Total
Smoking	0.6	4.7	13.8	19.1	16.4	12.9	7.5	36.8
Hypertension (140/90)	0.0	4.5	11.5	16.0	7.3	8.6	6.8	22.7
Elevated Cholesterol	0.0	17.2	40.9	58.1	10.9	18.0	12.4	41.3
Ohesity (BMI ≥27)	0.6	18.1	41.5	60.2	16.3	17.8	12.5	46.7
Sedentary	0.5	6.3	15.1	22.0	13.9	16.7	10.4	41.7

<sup>\*</sup>The Newfoundland population was weighted for the risk factors and age so that they could be compared to the RCMP population.

Table 3.3.6: Percentage of the RCMP and Newfoundland Male Populations with a Combination of Selected Risk Factors

Risk Factor		(n=368	MP males) ge		Newfoundland Population (n=858 males) Age			
	≤30	31-40	40+	Total	≤30	31-40	40+	Total
0 Risk Factors	0.5	7.9	7.9	16.4	8.2	4.7	1.6	14.5
Major Risk Factors* 1 Risk Factor	0.5	14.5	26.6	41.6	20.0	15.0	10.0	45.1
2 Risk Factors	0.0	4.1	12.6	16.7	5.2	7.2	5.2	17.7
3 Risk Factors	0.0	0.0	1.9	1.9	0.8	2.4	1.4	4.7
Other Risk Factors** I Risk Factor	0.5	17.5	35.1	53.2	17.4	17.2	9.8	44.4
2 Risk Factors	0.3	3.3	10.4	14.0	5.2	7.3	6.1	18.6

<sup>\*</sup>Major Risk Factors: smoking. high cholesterol ( $\geq$ 5.2), high blood pressure (140/90) 
\*\*Other Risk Factors: bmi ( $\geq$ 27), sedentary

Table 3.3.7: Correlations Between Negative Health Indicators

Negative Health Indicators	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.
1. High Blood Pressure (Sys/Dia ≥ 140/90) (Physical Exam)						
2. Elevated Cholesterol (≥5.2) (Blood Test)	.140*					
3. Obesity (BMI≥27) (Physical Exam)	.155**	.218**				
4. Smoking (Q11)	043	.069	.012			
<ol> <li>Physical Inactivity</li> <li>(Q18)</li> </ol>	010	.083	.075	.084		
6. Unhealthy Eating (Q27)	.117*	.022	.057	002	014	
7. Alcohol Overuse (Q12)	021	.111*	.039	.051	.034	.018

<sup>\*\*</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

<sup>\*</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

#### 3.4 Positive Health Indicators

The PHA includes a number of questions that have been defined as positive health indicators and include the following: perceptions of ideal weight, normal blood pressure, normal blood sugar, normal cholesterol, good physical health, good emotional health and good physical fitness to do front line operational policing. This section will describe the members' perceptions regarding their overall health.

Table 3.4.1 describes the prevalence of positive health indicators by sex and age. On all but one of the indicators, more than 89% of the members reported they were in good overall health and capable of performing their front line police work. However, only 44% of the members felt their weight to be ideal. In looking at age and sex difference, significantly fewer, older members felt their weight was ideal ( $\chi^2$ =13.150, df=2, p=0.001), that they had normal cholesterol ( $\chi^2$ =14.386, df=2, p=0.001), and that they had good physical health ( $\chi^2$ =7.144, df=2, p=0.028).

Table 3.4.2 looks at the changes in the members' views of their overall health between 1994 and 1998. During this period of time, there was no significant change in the members' views.

Correlations between positive health indicators are shown in Table 3.4.3. The strongest significant associations, while small, were between the members who felt they were physically fit to do frontline operational policing and those who felt they were in good emotional health (r=.253)

Table 3.4.1: Percentage of Population With Positive Health Indicators by Sex and Age

Positive Health Indicators	Sex		Age		Total
(PHA Question)	(n)	≤30 % (n)	31-40 % (n)	≥41 % (n)	% (n)
Ideal weight (Q19)	M (157)	26.1	45.2	28.7	43.7 (359)
	F (23)	60.9	30.4	8.7	46.9 (49)
	Total	55.6 (99)	47.0 (166)	32.9 (143)	44.1 (408)
Normal blood pressure	M (321)	19.6	42.1	38.3	96.1 (334)
(Q20)	F (45)	57.8	26.7	15.6	100.0 (45)
	Total	100.0 (89)	97.4 (151)	93.5 (139)	96.6 (379)
Normal blood sugar	M (297)	18.2	43.8	38.0	98.0 (303)
(Q21)	F (42)	54.8	28.6	16.7	100.0 (42)
	Total	100 (77)	99.3 (143)	96.0 (125)	98.3 (345)
Normal cholesterol	M (266)	19.5	43.6	36.8	87.5 (304)
(Q22)	F (42)	57.1	28.6	14.3	100.0 (42)
	Total	97.4 (78)	91.4 (140)	81.3 (128)	89.0 (346)
Good physical health	M (342)	20.8	42.4	36.8	94.2 (363)
(Q24)	F (47)	59.6	27.7	12.8	95.9 (49)
	Total	99.0 (100)	94.6 (167)	91.0 (145)	94.4 (412)
Good emotional health	M (354)	20.1	42.7	37.3	97.3 (364)
Q25)	F (47)	55.3	29.8	14.9	95.9 (49)
	Total	97.0 (100)	98.2 (168)	95.9 (145)	97.1 (413)
Physically fit to do front	M (355)	19.7	43.1	37.2	97.5 (364)
line operational policing (Q26)	F (49)	57.1	28.6	14.3	100.0 (49)
	Total	98.0 (100)	99.4 (168)	95.9 (145)	97.8 (413)

Table 3.4.2: Percentage (%) of the Population Who Had a PHA During the Years
1994 and 1998 with Positive Health Indicators

Positive Health Indicators (PHA Question)	Year	Total % (n)
Ideal Weight	1994	46.2 (117)
(Q19)	1998	42.2 (116)
Normal blood pressure	1994	97.2 (108)
(Q20)	1998	92.4 (105)
Normal blood sugar	1994	95.7 (94)
(Q21)	1998	98.9 (92)
Normal cholesterol	1994	83.0 (94)
(Q22)	1998	78.6 (98)
Good physical health	1994	94.9 (118)
(Q24)	1998	96.6 (116)
Good emotional health	1994	97.5 (118)
(Q25)	1998	97.4 (116)
Physically fit to do front	1994	96.6 (114)
line operational policing (Q26)	1998	97.4 (114)

Table 3.4.3: Correlations Between Positive Health Indicators

Negative Health Indicators	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.
1. Ideal weight (Q19)						
2. Normal blood pressure (Q20)	.114*					
<ol> <li>Normal blood sugar</li> <li>(Q21)</li> </ol>	.081	024				
Normal cholesterol    (Q22)	.107*	.084	.103			
5. Good physical health (Q24)	089	.156**	032	.118*		
6. Good emotional health (Q25)	038	031	020	.069	.156**	
7. Physically fit to do front line operational policing (Q26)	033	029	018	047	.253**	.172**

<sup>\*\*</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

## 3.5 Psychological Symptoms

The PHA has 15 questions that provide feedback to the designated physician about underlying psychological stressors. Table 3.5.1 shows the prevalence of members answering positively to these questions. Although only 3% of them felt they were emotionally unhealthy, 42% of the members reported being exposed to psychologically traumatizing events and 31% reported having felt tense or nervous. In analyzing the questions as a group, 58% of the members had answered positively to three or more questions. The only question which showed any significant difference between sex and age was that concerned with energy levels. The females were significantly ( $\chi^{=}$ 4.604, df=1, p=0.032) more likely to have noticed a change in their energy levels, as well as the younger members ( $\chi^{=}$ 8.012, df=2, p=0.018).

•

Table 3.5.2 shows any change in the indicators for psychological stressors between 1994 and 1998. There were no changes for the question asking about the members' perception of their emotional health. However, there was a significant decrease in the number of members answering positively to change in weight ( $\chi^2$ =6.376, df=1, p=0.012), exposures to contagious diseases ( $\chi^2$ =5.994, df=1, p=0.014) and feel very tense or nervous ( $\chi^2$ =4.049, df=1, p=0.044).

Table 3.5.3 shows the correlations between indicators for psychological stressors.

The strongest associations, while small, were between recently felt very frustrated and feel very tense or nervous (r=.286); and recently felt very frustrated and recently felt very anery (r=.338). Other significant associations were between:

- noticed any change in energy level and noticed any change in weight (r=.252);
- emotional health and serious personal problems (r=.228);
- emotional health and change in energy level (r=.248);
- helpless and personal problems (r=.202);
- helpless and emotional health (r=.230);
- recently felt very angry and feel very tense of nervous (r=.218);
- and talk to a counsellor and emotional health (r=.220).

Table 3.5.1: Percentage of Population With Indicators for Psychological Symptoms by Sex and Age

Psychological Stressors	Sex		Total		
	(n)	≤30% (n)	31-40% (n)	241% (n)	% (n)
Psychological (Q5)	M (154)	20.8	44.8	34.4	42.4 (363)
(shooting incidents, violent incidents, discovery of dead bodies)	F (18)	61.1	33.3	5.6	36.7 (49)
	Total	43.4 (99)	44.6 (168)	37.2 (145)	41.7 (412
Suffered any serious	M (76)	21.1	39.5	39.5	21.0 (362)
personal problems (Q7)	F (12)	75.0	25.0	0.0	25.0 (48)
	Total	24.8 (101)	19.8 (167)	21.1 (142)	21.5 (410)
Noticed any change in	M (125)	25.6	43.2	31.2	34.2 (365)
weight (Q8)	F (19)	57.9	21.1	21.1	38.8 (49)
	Total	42.6 (101)	34.5 (168)	29.7 (145)	34.8 (414)
Noticed any change in	M (64)	26.6	40.6	32.8	17.7 (361)
energy level (Q9)	F (15)	80.0	20.0	0.0	30.6 (49)
	Total	28.7 (101)	17.4 (167)	14.8 (142)	19.3 (410)
Overuse of alcohol (Q12)	M (17)	11.8	29.4	58.8	4.7 (365)
	F(1)	100.0	0.0	0.0	2.0 (49)
	Total	3.0 (101)	3.0 (168)	6.9 (145)	43 (414)
Exposure to contagious	M (97)	20.6	45.4	34.0	26.7 (365)
diseases (Q13)	F(11)	63.6	36.4	0.0	22.4 (49)
	Total	26.7 (101)	28.6 (168)	22.8 (145)	26.1 (414)
Consider yourself not to be	M (10)	10.1	30.0	60.0	2.7 (364)
in good emotional health (Q25)	F (2)	100.0	0.0	0.0	4.1 (49)
	Total	3.0(100)	1.8 (168)	4.1 (145)	2.9 (413)
Periods when you feel	M (17)	23.5	47.1	29.4	4.7 (365)
helpless (Q29)	F (4)	75.0	0.0	25.0	8.2 (49)
	Total	6.9 (101)	4.8 (168)	4.1 (145)	5.1 (414)

Psychological Stressors	Sex		Total			
	(n)	≤30% (n) 31-40% (n)		241% (n)	% (n)	
Feel very tense or nervous	M (115)	17.4	46.1	36.5	31.5 (365)	
(Q30)	F (13)	53.8	38.5	7.7	26.5 (49)	
	Total	.26.7 (101)	34.5 (168)	29.7 (145)	30.9 (414)	
Recently felt very angry	M (36)	19.4	33.	47.2	9.9 (365)	
(Q31)	F (7)	71.4	28.6	0.0	14.3 (49)	
	Total	11.9 (101)	8.3 (168)	11.7 (145)	10.4 (414)	
Recently felt very frustrated	M (69)	15.9	43.5	40.6	19.0 (364)	
(Q32)	F(10)	60.0	20.0	20.0	20.4 (49)	
	Total	16.8 (101)	19.2 (167)	20.7 (145)	19.1 (413)	
Psychological or emotional	M (2)	0.0	0.0	100.0	0.5 (365)	
problem you may have forgotten (Q34)	F(1)	100.0	0.0	0.0	2.0 (49)	
	Total	1.0 (101)	0.0 (168)	1.4 (145)	0.7 (414)	
Talk to a counsellor or	M (4)	0.0	100.0	0.0	1.1 (365)	
psychologist (Q35)	F(2)	100.0	0.0	0.0	4.1 (49)	
	Total	2.0 (101)	2.4 (168)	0.0 (145)	1.4 (414)	
You or family member	M (48)	22.9	37.5	39.6	13.2 (365)	
suffer from chronic medical or psychological condition	F (4)	50.0	25.0	25.0	8.2 (49)	
(Q36)	Total	12.9 (13)	11.3 (19)	13.8 (20)	12.6 (52)	
Any aspect of your health	M (4)	50.0	25.0	25.0	1.1 (365)	
that might restrict your capacity to safely perform	F(1)	100.0	0.0	0.0	2.0 (49)	
your duties (Q37)	Total	3.0 (101)	0.6 (168)	0.7 (145)	1.2 (414)	
Answered positively to 3 or	M (216)	53.4	62.3	58.7	59.2 (365)	
more of the above questions	F (24)	53.6	50.0	28.6	49.0 (49)	
	Total	53.5 (101)	61.3 (168)	57.2 (145)	58.0 (414)	

Table 3.5.2: Percentage (%) of the Population Who Had a PHA During the Years 1994 and 1998 With Indicators for Psychological Symptoms

Psychological Stressors	Year	Total % (118)
Psychological (Q5)	1994	45.3
(shooting incidents, violent incidents, discovery of dead bodies)	1998	36.4
Suffered any serious personal problems (Q7)	1994	12.8
	1998	19.5
Noticed any change in weight (Q8)	1994	37.3
	1998	22.2
Noticed any change in energy level (Q9)	1994	17.8
	1998	13.0
Overuse of alcohol (Q12)	1994	5.9
	1998	2.5
Exposure to contagious diseases (Q13)	1994	30.5
	1998	16.9
Consider yourself not to be in good emotional health (Q25)	1994	2.5
	1998	2.6
Periods when you feel helpless (Q29)	1994	2.5
	1998	6.0
Feel very tense or nervous (Q30)	1994	34.7
	1998	22.9
Recently felt very angry (Q31)	1994	12.7
	1998	11.9
Recently felt very frustrated (Q32)	1994	18.8
	1998	27.1
Psychological or emotional problem you may have forgotten (Q34)	1994	0.8

Psychological Stressors	Year	Total % (118)
	1998	0.8
Talk to a counsellor or psychologist (Q35)	1994	0.8
	1998	1.7
You or family member suffer from chronic medical or	1994	12.7
psychological condition (Q36)	1998	11.9
Any aspect of your health that might restrict your capacity to	1994	0.0
safely perform your duties (Q37)	1998	2.5
Answered positively to 3 or more of the above questions	1994	59.3
	1998	51.3

Table 3.5.3: Correlations Between Indicators for Psychological Symptoms

14								
13.								
13.								
=								
10.								
9								
æ								
7.								.230••
· j							036	880.
8						.008	.104•	.113•
+					.022	.048	.248**	.195
3.				.252.	.043	.040	950.	•601.
ri			.126*	.134•	.004	1031	.228••	.202.
-		.196**	.059	680	.121•	.156**	650.	.072
Indicators for Morbidity	1. Psychological (Q5)(shooting incidents, violent incidents, discovery of dead hodies)	2. Suffered any serious personal problems (Q7)	3. Noticed any change in weight (Q8)	4. Noticed any change in energy level (Q9)	5. Overuse of alcohol (Q12)	6. Exposure to contagious diseases (Q13)	7. Consider yourself to be in good emotional health (Q25)	8. Periods when you feel helpless (Q29)
	_			4	4.	-		

- 1								-
	13.						046	013
	12.					010	.054	600.
	Ξ.				.103•	.044	.168••	.002
	10			.338**	.158••	.157**	980	.035
	9.		.218**	.286**	.004	.094	.136**	.022
	×	.084	.138**	.1961.	.110•	.156**	.178••	176**
	7.	.041	.037	.137**	015	.220••	.110•	610
	.9	.186**	.176**	.075	.014	.112•	.157••	015
		.037	.044	077	*10.	.172**	.134••	024
	7	.141.	.115•	.172••	.103•	\$60.	.093	.058
	3.	.115•	.051	.187**	003	004	060.	034
	2.	.122•	.098	**181.	037	.085	.158••	.104
	-	.187**	180	.158**	073	.103*	.093	-:046
	Indicators for Morbidity	9. Feel very tense or nervous (Q30)	10. Recently felt very angry (Q31)	11. Recently felt very frustrated (Q32)	12. Psychological or emotional problem you may have forgotten (Q34)	13. Talk to a counsellor or psychologist (Q35)	14. You or family member suffer from chronic medical or psychological condition (Q36)	15. Any aspect of your health that might restrict your

capacity to safely psychological condition (Q36) Any aspect of ye health that migh restrict your

..85

. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed). · Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). perform your duties

### 3.6 Functional Capacity

The Medical Profile of a member is assigned by the Health Services Officer of a Division and provides information on duty limitations and restrictions. Table 3.6.1 details the number of members who have limitations and restrictions. Within the Visual Acuity and Hearing categories only 1% of the members have been profiled as V4 and H4 respectively which restricts them from operational police work except in emergency situations. Under the Geographical Location category, 2% of the members had a G3 profile which required specialist care. Four percent of the members had been assigned O3 restrictions which did not prevent them from performing operational police work: however, they did have some limitations to what they could and could not do. On the other hand, 2% had been assigned O4 restrictions and were not subject to operational call out. Finally, 6% of the members were not cleared (F5) to do Physical Ability Readiness Evaluation (PARE) and therefore should have had duty restrictions placed upon them. There were no significant differences between sex and age for any of these categories of the Medical Profile variables..

Table 3.6.2 identifies the changes in the Medicai Profile from 1994 to 1998.

There were no significant changes.

Table 3.6.3 shows the correlations between functional capacity. The strongest associations were between members assigned restrictions for Occupation Restrictions (O4) and Geographic Availability of Health Care (G3) (r=.438); and Occupational Fitness (F5) and Geographic Availability of Health Care (G3) (r=.397).

Table 3.6.1: Percentage of Population With Indicators for Functional Capacity and Coping by Sex and Age

Medical Profile	Sex		Total		
	(n)	≤30 %(n)	31-40 % (n)	≥41 % (n)	% (n)
Visual Acuity (V4) (Assigned to members in administrative	M (2)	0.0	50.0	50.0	0.6 (358)
duties in which loss of vision aids will not create a hazard to co-workers or the public and any need to perform	F(1)	0.0	0.0	100.0	2.2 (46)
public and any need to perform policing duties would only be in emergency situations.)	Total	0.0 (98)	0.6 (165)	1.4 (141)	0.7 (404)
Hearing (H4)	M (4)	0.0	25.0	75.0	1.1 (360)
(Hearing loss not greater than 50 dbs in the better ear in the 500 to 2000 Hz frequency range.)	F (0)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0 (46)
	Total	0.0	0.6 (166)	2.1 (142)	1.0 (406)
Geographic Availability of Health Care (G3) (Applied to a member who needs a	M (8)	0.0	50.0	50.0	2.2 (357)
	F(1)	0.0	100.0	0.0	2.2 (46)
specialist care.)	Total	0.0 (98)	3.0 (166)	2.9 (139)	2.2 (403)
Occupational Restrictions (O3) (Applied to a member who suffers from	M (16)	12.5	12.5	75.0	4.4 (360)
a condition that may require one or more sub-speciality services and will	F(1)	0.0	100.0	0.0	2.2 (46)
usually require posting to an urban centre.)	Total	2.0 (98)	1.8 (166)	8.5 (142)	4.2 (406)
Occupational Restrictions (O4) (Assigned to a member who suffers	M (5)	20.0	20.0	60.0	1.4 (360)
from a condition which may result in an occurrence that threatens the safety of the members, a co-workers, or the public.	F(1)	0.0	100.0	0.0	2.2 (46)
	Total	1.0 (98)	1.2 (166)	2.1 (142)	1.5 (406)
Occupational Fitness (F5)	M (20)	15.0	30.0	55.0	5.8 (342)
(Not Cleared for PARE)	F (2)	0.0	50.0	50.0	4.2 (48)
	Total	3.1 (98)	4.6 (153)	8.6 (139)	5.6 (390)

Table 3.6.2: Percentage (%) of the Population Who Had a PHA During the Years 1994 and 1998 With Indicators for Functional Capacity and Coping

Medical Profile	Year	Total % (n)
Vision (V4) (Assigned to members in administrative duties in which loss of	1994	0.9 (116)
vision aids will not create a hazard to co-workers or the public and any need to perform policing duties would only be in emergency situations.)		0.0
Hearing (H4)	1994	0.0
(Hearing loss not greater than 50 dbs in the better ear in the 500 to 2000 Hz frequency range.)		0.0
Geographical Availability of Health Care (G3)	1994	5.2 (116)
(Applied to a member who needs a specialist care.)	1998	4.5 (110)
Occupational Restrictions (O3)	1994	4.3 (116)
(Applied to a member who suffers from a condition that may require one or more sub-speciality services and will usually require posting to an urban centre.)	1998	5.4 (111)
Occupational Restrictions (04)	1994	1.7 (116)
(Assigned to a member who suffers from a condition which may result in an occurrence that threatens the safety of the members, a co-workers, or the public.	1998	0.9 (111)
Occupational Fitness	1994	7.6 (105)
(F5) (Not Clear to Do PARE)	1998	6.9 (116)

Table 3.6.3: Correlations Between Functional Capacity and Coping

Negative Health Indicators	V4	H4	G3	03	04
Vision (V4)					
Hearing (H4)	009				
Geographical Availability of Health Care (G3)	.182**	.154**			
Occupational Restrictions (O3)	.125*	.104*	.219**		
Occupational Restrictions (O4)	010	012	.438**	026	
Occupational Fitness (F5)	022	.085	.199**	.397**	.150**

<sup>\*\*</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

# 3.7 Occupational Hazards

Six questions on the PHA enquire about occupational hazards to which members have been exposed. Table 3.7.1 describes the prevalence of the following occupational hazards: loud noises, chemicals, injuries, near miss, psychologically traumatizing events or physical altercations. Table 3.7.2 shows a breakdown of the specific types of hazards members were subjected to. Almost half (47%) of the members reported that they had been exposed to some kind of frequent or intermittent loud noise. The most frequent type of noise exposure came from the firing range (46%) or a combination of noise exposures (40%). Forty percent of the members had been exposed to chemicals, gasses, dusts, allergens or furnes and 51% of the exposures were from the firing range. Of the 20% who reported having suffered an injury, 72% were a result of physical confrontation. Thirtytwo percent of the members said they had been exposed to situations where an injury was likely to have occurred. Nearly half (46%) were reported as having occurred during the line of duty and 24% were a result of motor vehicle accidents. As regards psychologically traumatizing events 42% of the members had been exposed and 36% of these incidents were due to sudden death. Finally, 45% of the members reported that they had been in altercations that included resisting arrest (40%) and line of duty (51%).

Significantly more males than females reported being exposed to chemicals  $(\chi^2=3.977. \text{ df=1}, \text{p=0.046})$ . There was a significant association between age and noises  $(\chi^2=11.161. \text{ df=2}, \text{p=0.004})$ , injuries  $(\chi^2=15.004. \text{ df=2}, \text{p=0.001})$  and altercations

 $(\chi^2=15.272. df=2, p=0.0005)$ . Those in the middle age category (31-40 years) reported less noise exposure, and older members reported fewer injuries and altercations.

Interestingly, when looking at the change in hazards shown in Table 3.7.3 only noise and chemical exposures increased between 1994 and 1998 by 2.5% and 11% respectively, whereas exposures to the other four hazards decreased. The largest decreases where in exposures to psychological traumatizing events (8.9%) and altercations (11.5%). However, none of these changes were significantly different.

Correlations between occupational hazards are shown in Table 3.7.4. The strongest associations were between: chemicals and noise (r=.466); altercation and psychological (r=.422); altercation and psychological (r=.338); and psychological and situation (r=.338).

Table 3.7.1: Percentage of Population With Occupational Hazards by Sex and Age

Occupational Hazards	Sex		Age			
(PHA Question)	(n)	≤30 % (n)	31-40 % (n)	≥41 % (n)	% (n)	
Noise (Q1)	M (176)	21.6	33.5	44.9	48.2 (365)	
(airport, jet engines, helicopters, firing	F (19)	73.7	21.1	5.3	40.4 (47)	
range. snowmobiles)	Total	52.5 (99)	37.5 (168)	55.2 (145)	47.3 (412	
Chemical (Q2)	M (151)	24.5	34.4	41.1	41.4 (365)	
(chemical toxins or allergens)	F (13)	76.9	23.1	0.0	26.5 (49)	
	Total	46.5 (101)	32.7 (168)	42.8 (145)	39.6 (414)	
Injuries (Q3)	M (72)	31.9	48.6	19.4	19.8 (364)	
(punched, knocked out, bumped, involved in	F (11)	72.7	9.1	18.2	22.4 (49)	
motor vehicle accident)	Total	31.0 (100)	21.4 (168)	11.0 (145)	20.1 (413)	
Situation (Q4)	M (117)	20.5	47.0	32.5	32.1 (364)	
(where injury was likely, near miss)	F (13)	46.2	23.1	30.8	26.5 (49)	
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Total	29.7 (101)	34.7 (167)	29.0 (145)	31.5 (413)	
Psychological (Q5)	M (154)	20.8	44.8	34.4	42.4 (363)	
(shooting incidents, violent incidents,	F (18)	61.1	33.3	5.6	36.7 (49)	
discovery of dead bodies)	Total	43.4 (99)	44.6 (168)	37.2 (145)	41.7 (412)	
Altercation (Q6)	M (170)	25.3	48.2	26.5	46.7 (364)	
(physical confrontation or physically	F (17)	58.8	29.4	11.8	35.4 (48)	
demanding situation)	Total	53.5 (99)	51.8 (87)	32.4 (47)	45.4 (412)	

Table 3.7.2: Specific Types of Hazards Experienced by the Members

Hazard	Type of Exposure	Percent of Members
Noise (Q1) (n=224)	Firing range	46.3
(airport, jet engines, helicopters, firing range, snowmobiles)	Airport	8.9
	Jet engines	2.6
	Helicopters	2.6
	Combination	39.5
Chemicals (Q2) (n=259)	Firing range	51.0
(chemical toxins or allergens)	Gases	10.3
	Dust	8.4
	Fumes	4.5
	Chemicals	2.6
	Hobbies	4.5
	Combination	18.7
Injuries (Q3) (n=340)	Knocked-out	1.4
(punched, knocked out, bumped, involved in motor vehicle accident)	Physical-confrontation	71.6
	Motor vehicle accident	14.9
	Bumped	1.4
	Fell	2.7
	Bitten by a dog	5.4
	Snowmobile accident	1.4
	Training	1.4
Situation (Q4) (n=314)	Hostage	3.0
(where injury was likely, near miss)	Riot	3.0
	Hostage-riot	3.0
	Shooting	8.0
	Line of Duty	46.0

Hazard	Type of Exposure	Percent of Members
	Firing Range	1.0
	Motor Vehicle Accident	24.0
	Diving	2.0
	Combo	10.0
Psychological (Q5) (n=261)	Shooting	3.3
(shooting incidents, violent incidents, discovery of dead bodies)	Hostage	2.6
	Riot	.7
	Sudden-death	36.0
	Motor Vehicle Accident	4.6
	Child	5.9
	Boating accident	1.3
	Combination	32.0
Altercation (Q6) (n=289)	Violent person	5.6
(physical confrontation or physically demanding situation	Resisting arrest	39.2
	Line of duty	51.2
	Combo	4.0

Table 3.7.3: Percentage (%) of the Population Who Had a PHA During the Years 1994 and 1998 With Hazards

Occupational Hazards (PHA Question)	Year	Total % (118)
Noise (Q1)	1994	44.1
(airport, jet engines, helicopters, firing range, snowmobiles)	1998	46.6
Chemicals (Q2)	1994	33.9
(chemical toxins or allergens)	1998	44.9
Injuries (Q3)	1994	16.9
(punched, knocked out, bumped, involved in motor vehicle accident)	1998	12.7
Situation (Q4)	1994	33.3
(where injury was likely, near miss)	1998	31.4
Psychological (Q5)	1994	45.3
(shooting incidents, violent incidents, discovery of dead bodies)	1998	36.4
Altercation (Q6)	1994	47.9
(physical confrontation or physically demanding situation)	1998	36.4

Table 3.7.4: Correlations Between Occupational Hazards

	Hazards	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.
1.	Noise (Q1)					
2.	Chemicals (Q2)	.466*				
3.	Injuries (Q3)	.050	.099*			
4.	Situation (Q4)	.150**	.249**	.250**		
5.	Psychological (Q5)	.234**	.231**	.219**	.323**	
6.	Altercation (Q6)	.138**	.195**	.259**	.422**	.338**

<sup>\*\*</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).
\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

## 3.8 Link Between Occupational Hazards and Measures of Health

Police health has been reported to be negatively impacted by the hazards experienced in the occupation. The following tables show the correlations between hazards and measures of health. Table 3.8.1 shows the correlation between morbidity and hazards. The largest associations were seen between change in weight and injuries (r=.130): change in weight and altercations (r=.165); joint or back problems and injuries (r=.141): and joint or back problems and situation (r=.134). However, these correlations were small.

Table 3.8.2 shows the correlation between negative health indicators and hazards.

While there were a few associations, they were too small to be significant.

Table 3.8.3 shows the correlation between positive health indicators and hazards.

There were no significant associations worth noting.

Table 3.8.4 shows the correlation between psychological symptoms and hazards. There were many associations found between psychological symptoms and hazards. Therefore, the questions were analyzed as a group of positive answers to three or more questions about psychological health. There were significant associations between all hazards and psychological health. The strongest association was with psychological hazards (r= 465).

Table 3.8.5 shows the correlation between functional capacity and coping and hazards. There were no significant associations worth noting.

Table 3.8.1: Correlation Between Morbidity and Hazards

Morbidity	Hazards							
	Noise	Chem.	Injuries	Situa.	Psych.	Alter.		
Change in weight or waist size (indicator for diabetes, depression - Q8)	.105*	.041	.130**	.117*	.059	.165**		
Change in energy level (indicator for thyroid, chronic infection - Q9)	.008	.010	.064	.052	.089	.106*		
Difficulty or change in urinating (indicator for diabetes- Q10)	.073	042	.080	.003	014	.043		
Frequent headaches, vision changes, balance problems, etc. (indicator for nervous system disorders - Q14)	.088	.094	.001	008	024	040		
Shortness of breath, cough, wheezing, etc. (indicator for respiratory disease - Q15)	.001	059	.006	.101*	.073	.102*		
Pain, pressure or tightness in your chest, neck, arm jaw, etc. (indicator cardiac disease - Q16)	.088	.082	.008	.101*	.025	.020		
Joint or back problems, muscle weakness, etc. (indicator for musculoskeletal - Q17)	.095	.101*	.141**	.134**	.050	017		
Change in more or skin changes or persistent sore (indicator for skin cancer - Q23)	.054	.036	.053	.077	.040	.064		
Allergies (Q41)	032	.006	.025	.040	001	.090		
Obesity (BMI≥27)	012	018	047	028	.001	052		
Hearing Loss	.116*	.107*	048	.042	.000	062		

<sup>\*\*</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 3.8.2: Correlation Between Negative Health Indicators and Hazards

Negative Health Indicators	Hazards						
	Noises	Chem.	Injuries	Situa.	Psych.	Alter.	
High Blood Pressure (Sys/Dia ≥140/90) (Physical Exam)	.028	032	068	024	036	012	
Elevated Cholesterol (≥5.2) (Blood Test)	.072	009	051	.016	065	139*	
Obesity (BMI≥27) (Physical Exam)	.012	018	047	028	001	052	
Smoking (Q11)	.056	.061	049	.020	.052	008	
Physical Inactivity (Q18)	018	.040	.052	.048	.029	046	
Unhealthy Eating (Q27)	.120*	.101*	026	.123*	001	006	
Alcohol Overuse (Q12)	.083	.045	.041	.085	.121*	.020	

<sup>\*\*</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

<sup>\*</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 3.8.3: Correlation Between Positive Health Indicators and Hazards

Positive Health Indicators	Hazards							
	Noises	Chem.	Injuries	Situa.	Psych.	Alter		
Ideal weight	036	020	022	069	063	.022		
Normal blood pressure	119*	002	.054	.058	024	.076		
Normal blood sugar	016	.008	.063	.036	.018	018		
Normal cholesterol	017	063	.027	077	.000	046		
Good physical health	025	.002	011	041	075	.009		
Good emotional health	010	.022	.014	008	059	.042		
Physically fit to do front line operational policing	.008	.019	009	007	.059	.036		

<sup>\*\*</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 3.8.4: Correlation Between Psychological symptoms and Hazards

Psychological symptoms	Hazards						
	Noises	Chem.	Injuries	Situa.	Psych.	Alter.	
Answered positively to 3 or more of the questions related to psychological health	.201**	.219**	.134**	.251**	.465**	.292**	

Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).
 Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 3.8.5: Correlation Between Functional Capacity and Coping and Hazards

Medical Profile	Hazards							
	Noises	Chem.	Injuries	Situa.	Psych.	Alter		
Vision (V4)	.032	070	.028	058	073	021		
Hearing (H4)	.055	030	051	014	034	.008		
Geographic Availability of Health Care (G3)	.023	020	077	030	026	070		
Occupational Restrictions (O3)	.120*	045	076	.036	078	069		
Occupational Restrictions (O4)	076	.025	012	.005	021	072		
Occupational Fitness (Not clear for PARE)	077	066	.018	043	.024	085		

 <sup>\*\*</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).
 \* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

## Chapter 4

#### Discussion

The overall aim of this study was to describe the health of the police officers in "B" Division of the RCMP, whether their health had changed since the introduction of the PHA and whether there was an association between exposures to occupational hazards and an increased risk of health problems. The results of this investigation suggest that: the members had a high level of health on most measures; which there was little change between 1994 and 1998; and that certain aspects of police work were associated with poorer health. Further, the results showed that the older police officers were at risk of having elevated risk factors for cardiovascular disease. Equally significant, was the finding that male police officers had higher levels of elevated cholesterol and obesity than the general male Newfoundland population. The following discussion will evaluate the findings in more detail. It will also address limitations of the study and provide recommendations for further research.

## 4.1 Health

On evaluating the PHAs, the members themselves (89%) reported being in good overall health, which is in line with Newfoundlanders (91%) perception of their health as being good to excellent (National Population Health Survey, 1996/97). Ninety seven percent also reported being in good emotional health and being happy with their job. Job satisfaction was much higher within this cohort compared to the Canadian average of 50% (National Population Health Survey, 1996/97). Another large study of the Canadian

police also found high levels of work satisfaction (Brown, et al., 1998). The evaluation of functional capacity and coping confirmed that the cohort was healthy and able to perform operational police work. For example, only 1.5% of the cohort had duty restrictions. Further, there were no new reported cases of diabetes, cardiac disease, skin cancer, and post traumatic stress syndrome. However, the results suggest that members are at risk for developing cardiac disease and diabetes, and/or may suffer from chronic conditions.

The risk factors for cardiac disease considered in this study were high blood pressure, elevated cholesterol, smoking, obesity, physical inactivity, unhealthy eating and alcohol overuse. The risk of developing cardiac disease increases synergistically as the number of these risk factors increases (MacDonald, Joffres, Stachenko, Horlick and Fodor, 1992; Pyörilä, et al., 1998). In this study of "B" Division RCMP, multiple risk factor analysis was done for the major risk factors high blood pressure, elevated cholesterol and smoking; and other risk factors: obesity and physical inactivity. Only 19% of the population had no risk factors.

Research has shown that individuals who have excess weight, are physically inactive, use alcohol, or have excessive salt intake are more likely to develop high blood pressure (Campbell, et al., 1999). This work found that there was a significant association between those individuals with high blood pressure and cholesterol, obesity and unhealthy eating. The prevalence of high blood pressure in the members was 15% (16% of males and 4% of females) which is less than the Canadian average of 22% (26%

of males and 18% of females) (Heart Health Surveys, 1985-90). It is also much less than the 39% found by Franke, et al. (1998) in their study of an Iowa law enforcement cohort. However, the RCMP's data may be under-represented because those individuals with high blood pressure which is controlled by medication could not easily be identified and confirmed.

Elevated cholesterol is another major risk factor for heart disease. The rate was found to be high within our RCMP population (55%) and significantly higher among the older members. The male RCMP population had a significantly higher rate of elevated cholesterol than the male Newfoundland population. MacDonald. et al. (1992) reported that the risk of ischemic heart disease doubles as the level of blood cholesterol increases from 5.2 to 6.2 mmol/L, risks double again for those who smoke and again doubles in the presence of elevated blood pressure. Therefore, more than half the male RCMP population appears to have a significant risk of developing ischemic heart disease.

The rate of smoking (19%) for our RCMP male population was lower than the 37% for the Newfoundland male population (Newfoundland Heart Health Survey, 1990). The rate of smoking (20%) for all the cohort was also less than the Canadian average of 29% (National Population Health Survey, 1996/97). However, it was similar to the 22% and 23% found in Williams, et al. (1987) and Franke, et al. (1996) studies respectively.

Within the RCMP population, 41% had one major risk factor, 15% had two major risk factors and 2% had three major risk factors. The male population was at greater risk than the females as there were significant differences between the multiple risk factors. Elevated cholesterol was also significantly associated with obesity and alcohol use, further adding to the synergistic effect of multiple risk factors discussed by MacDonald, et al. (1992).

The prevalence of obesity among the cohort was high at 57% (60% for males and 34% for females) with significantly more males and older members being obese. The rate also increased between 1994 and 1998 by 9% although this was not statistically significant. The prevalence of obesity for males was significantly higher than the Newfoundland rate for males which was 47% (Newfoundland Heart Health Survey, 1990). However, the results are similar to those reported by Franke, et al. (1998) in their study of retired Iowa law enforcement officers where they found that 55% of the officers had a BMI >27. Frank, et al. (1997) also reported in another 10-year study of Iowa law enforcement personnel that there was a trend showing an increase in body fat with aging. Pyöralla. et al. (1998) found that hyperinsulinemia was associated with the risk of a stroke in Helsinki policemen during the 22-year follow-up, but not independently of other risk factors, particularly upper body obesity. In the RCMP population, obesity was significantly associated with cholesterol.

There are limitations to using BMI alone to screen for obesity as it does not take into account muscle or bone mass. In the case of the RCMP, the BMI may be overestimated because the population is predominantly male and males tend to have increased muscle and bone mass. Further, 79% of the members reported participating in regular physical activity and 91% of the members reported eating healthy which would also support the argument for an increased muscle and bone mass in the population.

There was also a significant decrease in the number of members (15%) who reported that there weight had increased between 1994 and 1998.

Less than 1% of the members had diagnosed diabetes which is less than the Canadian average of 3% (Federal, Provincial and Territorial Advisory Committee on Population Health. 1999). Franke, et al. (1998) reported that 13% of the lowa law enforcement officers had diabetes. Once again, looking at multiple risk factors, 57% of the members had a BMI of 227, 35% reported they had a change in weight and 55% had elevated cholesterol, all of which may contribute to the development of diabetes. Further concerns arise because the mean age of the members is 37, and significantly more of the older members were obese, had elevated cholesterol and high blood pressure.

However, there may be some protection from diabetes since only 21% of the population reported being physically inactive. This is far below the Canadian average of 57% and the Iowa law enforcement personnel average of 50% (National Population Health Survey, 1996/97; Franke, et al. (1997). However, it is similar to the 23% found by Richmond, et al. (1998) in their study of New South Wales police and to the 30% found by Williams, et al. (1987) in their study of male police officers.

There are two reasons that the level of reported physical inactivity in this population is unlikely to be under estimated. First, the members have been well educated on what regular physical activity means, both during their training to become a police officer and in subsequent health promotion opportunities. Second. similar findings were found in a back pain study done on the RCMP, in which 75% of the members reported that they accumulated 3 or more hours/week of physical activity (Brown, et al., 1998).

Contrary to popular belief, overuse of alcohol was reported to be at 4% which was similar to the Canadian average of 8% (National Population Health Survey, 1996/97). It is also considerably lower than that found by Richmond, et al. (1998) in their study of New South Wales police where they reported that 44% of police officers drank alcohol excessively.

There were three indicators for chronic conditions which are worth noting. First, 30% of the members reported suffering from allergies or asthma. There is no breakdown of the type of allergies or asthma. However, in the study of the respiratory symptoms of RCMP forensic identification group by Trottier, et al. (1994), they reported that 3% of the control group had asthma or lung problems prior to joining the force and that 26% of the control group had hay fever. The rate is higher than the Newfoundland average for non-food/food allergies of 19% (National Population Health Survey, 1996/97).

Second. 33% of the members reported having developed a joint or back problem whereas in a previous study done on back pain in the RCMP, 76% of the members reported suffering from a chronic or recurring low back problem within the past year (Brown, et al. 1998). However, the prevalence of back pain in the Newfoundland population is only 11% (National Population Health Survey, 1996/97).

Finally, the prevalence of hearing loss in the cohort was 22% and significantly more of the older members had a hearing loss. The prevalence of hearing loss in Canada is approximately 4% (Statistics Canada, 1992). In the United States, the prevalence of hearing loss of individuals between the ages of 45 and 64 years is 14% (Benson and Marano, 1998). Therefore, it appears that the RCMP has a significant amount of hearing loss. However, age may be a confounding variable which makes the loss appear more significant.

Although all three chronic conditions increased during the period 1994 to 1998.

none were significant. However, given that the population is aging this would be an expected trend over the coming years.

## 4.2 Occupational Hazards

On reviewing the literature there are few studies that provide details on the types of occupational hazards to which police are exposed. One of the few studies was conducted in New South Wales by Evans (1994). This study provides an opportunity to add to the literature. The majority of noise (46%) and chemical exposures (51%) came from the firing range. Members are required to requalify for their firearms on a yearly basis and it is recommended they practice with their firearms regularly. The PHA does not identify the police car as a potential noise exposure and therefore members did not identify it. However, the police car has two sources of noise exposure and one source of chemical exposure which should not be overlooked. The siren and radio are both sources of loud noise which the members are exposed too on a regular basis. The radar is a hazard which the highway patrol members are exposed too regularly and other members less frequently.

The prevalence of injuries in this cohort was 20% as compared to the New South Wales Police Force whose injury rate was 40% while on duty (Evans, 1994). The majority (72%) of the injuries were a result of physical confrontation which is higher than that reported by Evans (1994) which was 51%. Fourteen percent of injuries reported were a result of motor vehicle accidents while Evans (1994) reported 21%. The accident report files within the Division were not up to date for the period of this study so no comparison could be made.

Thirty two percent of the members were subjected to situations where they could have been injured or had a near miss. The New South Wales Police Forces report a 20% chance of an officer being assaulted (Evans. 1994). While the majority of the situations were reported as in the line of duty (46%), 14% were a result of a motor vehicle accident. Brown. et al. (1998) reported that 10% of the RCMP members in their study experienced an accident in the police car. In many respects, it is surprising that there are not more motor vehicle accidents given the fact that the police spend so much time in their cruisers. It will be interesting to see if the incidence of motor vehicle accidents increases given that the members now carry lap tops in their cars and are expected to spend the majority of their time working from their vehicles.

The prevalence of "B" Division's exposures to psychologically disturbing events was 42% which is close to that reported by Brown et al. (1998) for the RCMP of 47%. The types of exposures were varied but the most cited reason was sudden-death (36%). The types of psychological exposures would vary across the RCMP, depending on the whether the member was stationed in a northern posting, small community or large urban centre.

Finally, the last exposure was altercations which may involve physical confrontation or physically demanding situations. Once again the reported prevalence of "B" Division members was 45% which is similar to that reported by Brown et al. (1998) in their study of RCMP of 49%. In comparing the altercations to injuries, any member involved in an altercation had a 60% chance of being injured.

While there were no significant changes in exposures to occupational hazards between 1994 and 1998, there may be trends to watch for in the future which could have a negative or positive impact on the health of the members. For example if noise and chemical exposures continue to increase then diligence on the part of the members in wearing protective equipment will be important.

## 4.3 Relationship Between Occupational Hazards and Health

One of the aims of this study was to determine if a link could be made between occupational hazards and health. In carrying out correlations between the occupational hazards and measures of health the one area of health which had a large number of associations was psychological symptoms. When the psychological symptoms were grouped into 3 or more positive answers to the questions and analyzed for associations with hazards there was a significant association among all. The strongest association was with psychological hazards. This suggests that police work may have a negative effect on the psychological health of the members. Mearns and Mauch (1998) in their study of

police officers did find that high levels of job stress were associated with greater physical and emotional distress. However, self-reported emotional health of this cohort was reported to be good by 97% of the members and only 1% of the members asked to be referred to a counsellor or psychologist. Health Services of "B" Division report an increase in the costs of psychological services and in the number of members seeking counselling. As well, the RCMP offers critical incident stress debriefing after every critical incident and they psychologically test all members and families being posted to isolated detachments.

As discussed earlier, 33% of the members reported joint or back problems. There were a number of significant associations between these problems and exposures to noises, injuries, situations and altercations. As Evans (1994) reported in his study of South Wales police force, there is a 40% chance of being injured while on duty. Given the nature of police work being injured while on duty would be expected and very difficult to avoid.

Hearing loss was significantly associated with exposure to noises and chemicals and older members were significantly more likely to report a hearing loss. Exposure to the firing range may be associated with the hearing loss since it was the major type of exposure for both noises and chemicals. Since the 1970s, the RCMP has required members to wear hearing protection while on the firing range. This may be one reason why the older members had a higher level of reported hearing loss. Finally, determining if there is a link between the prevalence of cardiac and diabetes risk factors is challenging. Generally, these factors are related to individual lifestyles. However, there is increasing evidence that shiftwork and stress may contribute to cardiovascular disease. Type II diabetes and obesity (Ely 1995; Glazner, 1991; Harma, 1996; Nakamura, et al. 1998; Phillips 1991; Siebenaler, 1991). However, there were significant associations between changes in weight and noises, injuries, situations and altercations; unhealthy eating and noises, chemicals and situations; and shortness of breath and situations and altercations. These associations do suggest that perhaps occupational hazards do have a negative impact on the risk factors for cardiac disease and diabetes.

### 4.4 Other Factors Influencing Police Health

As noted earlier, an individual's health is determined by many factors, such as employment and working conditions, health services, income and social status, social support networks, education, physical environments, biology and genetic endowment, and personal health practices and coping skills. The results of this study found that employment and working conditions had limited associations with the health of the RCMP. Therefore, it is important to consider other determinants of health to gain further insight into why the members had a high level of health.

### 111 Health Services

The RCMP is a federal police force in Canada which has in place a Health

Services Section that is responsible for health monitoring and delivery of services. The

system of delivery is organized on a Divisional or provincial level, and each division has a Health Services Section responsible for ensuring RCMP officers are "fit for duty and fit for life." Each occupational health team is made up of a health services officer (physician), a psychologist, a health and safety advisor, an occupational health nurse, a fitness and lifestyle advisor and a member/employee assistance coordinator. The Health Services Sections operate separately, but they follow policy set by the RCMP Health Services Directorate that is housed in Ottawa. The Directorate has a similar make-up to the Health Services in the Divisions. Therefore, members have access to exceptional health care, although their health is not always monitored regularly on a consistent basis throughout the RCMP.

#### 4.4.2 Income and Social Status

Clearly, since the most important determinant of health is 'income and social status', and the fact that members are fairly high up the income and social hierarchy scale, the consequences for health should be positive. The average salary of a constable rank member is \$56,000/year and officer rank member is \$83,000/year. This is well above the Newfoundland average income of \$19,710 (National Population Health Survey, 1996/97). The RCMP is one of Canada's national symbols and they tend to be respected.

# 4.4.3 Social Support Networks

Because of the nature of the RCMP, members are transferred throughout the Force on a regular basis (as often as every six months, 2 years, 5 years, to some staying in one place for many years). Therefore, members are continually uprooted from family and friends. The RCMP as an organization does try to create close social support networks for its members and close links with surrounding communities. However, while some members and their families thrive on this type of lifestyle, others find it more disruptive, isolating and challenging.

#### 4.4.4 Education

Health status is also linked with level of education. In an unpublished study of health practices in one Division of the RCMP, 64% of survey respondents had a university/college level of education compared with only 10% of the Newfoundland population having completed university. The RCMP, has a Training Section in Ottawa and in each Division, that is responsible for the continuing education of its employees. This training is multi-faceted and includes a wide range of topics, such as drug investigative techniques, forensic identification, intelligence analysis, major case management and so on. There is also support for university training. Such educational opportunities likely enhance health status.

## 4.4.5 Physical Environments

The RCMP has an Occupational Health and Safety Section dedicated to enforcing the Canada labour code laws and improving the 'physical environments' members live and work in. The physical environments, such as air, water and soil quality; and housing and workplace safety are not always ideal because of the isolated communities detachments and force housing are situated in. Where possible the RCMP will try to ensure the environments are improved and at accentable standards. However, there are times when this has not happened and members and their family's health has deteriorated because of it. Yet, overall, these services that do not exist for the general population likely do have a positive impact on health of the members of the RCMP.

# 4.4.6 Biology and Genetic Endowment

An individual's biology and genetic endowment are screened during the application process to join the RCMP. Any person with predisposing factors (colour blindness, hearing loss, etc.) which may impact on their ability to perform operational police work is prevented from joining. At one time, the Force also had height and gender restrictions. However, these have long since been changed. When a member does develop a health problem, such as diabetes, hearing or vision loss or musculoskeletal problems which would impact their ability to perform police work, they are medically discharged from the RCMP.

# 4.4.7 Personal Health Practices and Coping Skills

Despite these advantages, the actual health practices of some police officers may produce negative health outcomes. Living in isolated communities and working shiftwork do not always make it easy for some individuals to cope, be physically active or eat healthy. Recognizing these challenges, the Health Services Section has staff who carry out a variety of health promotion efforts designed to enhance healthy choices and lifestyles.

### 4.5 Limitations

There are a number of limitations with this study which should be addressed. The PHA, as noted earlier, was not designed for statistical analysis. It was designed to evaluate the occupational health of police officers to determine their fitness for duty. Therefore, not all of the data on the PHA was suitable for data analysis or provided sufficient detail to provide useful information. These limitations were not readily apparent because the PHAs had not been entered into the HSIS. A considerable amount of time was spent inputting the questionnaires into SPSS and then filtering and manipulating the data for analysis. Information on some aspects of the health of the members may have been lost because of the inability to do analysis on it.

Because the PHAs were not consistently administered to all members, one year could not be chosen to evaluate the cohort. To overcome this problem, one PHA from each member was used in the analysis of the cohort as a whole. This also greatly reduced the numbers of PHAs available for the longitudinal study. The reduced numbers and timeframe of five years may have accounted for the limited number of demonstrable chances over time in the health of the members.

A comparative study with other police forces may be difficult because of restricted access to medical files. The data available from other police forces may not be similar thus making comparisons' difficult.

Are the results transferrable across to other Divisions? Previous research by the RCMP tends to support that the results are transferrable. The members can be transferred between Divisions on a regular basis (minimum of every two years) and the population in "B" Division therefore is not homogenous to just Newfoundland. However, given that the type of police work and the communities policed between Divisions is different, there may be variances in the findings.

Since there was multiple testing of differences, certain of the significant findings may have emerged due to chance. However, this study was not concerned about particular individual differences, but rather about the general pattern which indicated that while the members of the Division are generally healthy, a certain population have a number of CHD risk factors which increased with age.

One must also consider that there may be a selection bias in the study. The earliest PHAs were used for the cross-sectional study which may have reduced the opportunity to identify the effects of work exposure on the health of the participants. Also the longitudinal study was limited to those members who had PHAs carried out three times and therefore, the number of sample to be analysed was smaller and may not have been as representative as it could have been if there had been more numbers.

## 4.6 Recommendations

Establishing what measures of health would be used in this study of police health was challenging. However, by using Raeburn and Rootman's expanded health field concept and incorporating the measures of health into Polanyi, et al.'s model for determinants of health in the workplace a model for measuring police health was developed. It is recommended that the model proposed in Figure 1.3.1 for measuring police health be used by other investigators when carrying out research in this area. It would ensure that there were systematic collection, analysis and interpretation of police health data and determinants of police health.

Is it worthwhile and cost effective for the RCMP to be administering PHAs every two years? Given that there were few changes in the overall health of the members in the five years of this study further evaluation is recommended. It may be worthwhile to do PHAs less often except for isolated postings and speciality teams.

Recommendations have been made to help improve the PHA for data analysis and provide further details on health and occupational hazards. Waist girth measures should be added to the physical examination because this would provide greater information in counselling members who are obese. It would also provide further data for analysing the extent of obesity within the RCMP. In the section on occupational hazards, the exact types of exposures the member has encountered should be recorded along with the types of injuries or trauma they experienced.

Analysis of the sick leave and accident reports could not be carried out because the information was not readily available or up to date. This is being rectified and it is recommended that it be completed as quickly as possible and kept up to date. Any trends in sick leave use or accidents should be investigated.

Since there is only anecdotal information from Health Services that the sick leave and psychological services for stress related problems are increasing, it is recommended that the sick leave and psychological services costs be analysed to determine if in fact there is a problem.

The PHAs serve as screening tool for health problems among the RCMP.

Therefore, it is imperative that all members receive their PHA every two years. If this does not happen then the purpose of the PHA is ineffective. Because there were a significant number of members with risk factors for heart disease and diabetes and chronic conditions and that the population is aging, it is recommended that all PHAs be evaluated by Health Services nurse or HSO as they are received and compared to previous PHAs. This can easily be done once PHAs are being entered into the HSIS on a regular basis. Until this occurs, manual review of the PHAs is recommended. Members with any indicators for health problems or number of risk factors for diabetes, thyroid problems and cardiovascular disease should be notified and their medical files flagged for follow-up. They should be referred to the appropriate health professional within the Health Services unit or too outside agencies where needed.

There are a number of areas where further research is recommended. First, research into the impact of shiftwork (including the impact on sleep, exercise habits, eating habits and work habits), on the health, especially cardiovascular risk factors, of the members should be undertaken. Further research into the extent of obesity, elevated cholesterol and high blood pressure to confirm the findings of this thesis is needed. A thorough evaluation of the musculoskeletal health (including etiology) of the members would provide Health Services information on the extent of musculoskeletal problems.

common work related problems and needed for any rehabilitative services. Finally, the Health Services units provide health promotion programs to the members. Research into the impact of their programs on the health of the members should be carried out and any required changes to improve the programs be made.

# Bibliography

Bandaranayake, D.R., Salmond, C.E. and Tobias, M.I. (1991). Occupational risk of hepatitis-B for police and customs personnel. <u>American Journal of Epidemiology</u>, 134(12), 1447-1453.

Banister, E.W., Allen, M., Fadl, S., Bhakthan, G. and Howard, D. (1988). Contemporary health issues. Jones and Bartlett Publishers.

Benson, V. and Marano, M.A. (1998). Current estimates from the national health interview survey, 1995. National Center for Health Statistics, Vital Health Stat 10, 199.

Brown, J., Wells, G.A., Trottier, A., Bonneau, J. and Ferris, B. (1998). Back pain in a large Canadian police force. SPINE, 23(7), 821-827.

Brown, J. and Trottier. A. (1995). Assessing cardiac risks in police officers. <u>Journal of Clinical Forensic Medicine</u>, 2, 199-204.

Burton, A.K., Tillotson, K.M., Symonds, T.L., Burke, C. and Mathewson, T. (1996). Occupational risk factors for the first-onset and subsequent course of low back trouble. SPINE, 21(22), 2612-2620.

Campbell, N.R.C., et al. (1999). Lifestyle modifications to prevent and control hypertension. 1. Methods and an overview of Canadian recommendations. <u>Canadian Medical Association Journal</u>, [60(9 Suppl); S1-S6.

Canadian Heart Health Database (1998). Health Canada, Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada and Conference of Principal Investigators of Heart Health (COPI).

Canadian Heart Health Surveys Research Group. (July 1997). Obesity and its relation to cardiovascular disease risk factors in Canadian adults. <u>Canadian Medical Association</u> Journal, 157(1 suppl.).

Carlier, I.V.E., Lamberts, R.D. and Gersons, B.P.R. (1997). Risk factors for posttraumatic stress symptomatology in police officers: a prospective analysis. <u>Journal of Nervous and Mental Diseases</u>, 185(8), 498-506.

Chief Actuary of the Government of Canada. (1996). RCMPSA Actuarial Report.

Clarke, J.N. (2000). <u>Health, Illness, and Medicine in Canada</u> (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Oxford University Press.

Davis, R. and Mostifi, R.K. (1993). Cluster of testicular cancer in police officers exposed to hand-held radar. Am J Ind Med, 24, 221-223.

Demers, P.A., Heyer, N.J. and Rosenstock, L. (1992). Mortality among firefighters from three northwestern United States cities. <u>British Journal of Industrial Medicine</u>, 46, 664-670.

Devo, R. (August 1998). Low-back pain. Scientific American, 49-53.

Ely, D.L. (1995). Organization of cardiovascular neurohumoral responses to stress. Implications for health and disease. <u>Annals of New York Academy of Science</u>, 771, 594-608

Evans, E. (1994). Soft tissue injuries in the police force. <u>Occupational Health</u>, 46(5), 159-60.

Federal, Provincial and Territorial Advisory Committee on Population Health. (1994) Strategies for Population Health: Investing in the Health of Canadians, Prepared for the meeting of the Ministers of Health, Halifax, Nova Scotia, September 14-15, 1994). Ottawa, ON: Minister of Supply and Services Canada.

Federal, Provincial and Territorial Advisory Committee on Population Health, Report on the Health of Canadians (1996).

Federal, Provincial and Territorial Advisory Committee on Population Health, Toward a Health Future; Second Report on the Health of Canadians, (1999).

Feur E, and Rosenman K. (1986). "Morality in police and firefighters in New Jersey." American Journal of Industrial Medicine, 9, 517-527.

Finkelstein, M.M. (1995). Back pain and parenthood. <u>Occupational and Environmental</u> Medicine, 52, 51-53.

Franke, W.D. and Anderson, D.F. (1994) Relationship between physical activity and risk factors for cardiovascular disease mong law enforcement officers. <u>Journal of</u> Occupational Medicine, 36(10), 1127-1132.

Franke W.D., Cox D.F., Schultz D.P. and Anderson D.F. (1997). "Coronary heart disease risk factors in employees of lowa's Department of Public Safety compared to a cohort of the general population. American Journal of Industrial Medicine, 31, 733-737. Franke, W.D., Collins, S.A. and Hinz, P.N. (1998). Cardiovascular disease morbidity in an Iowa law enforcement cohort, compared with the general Iowa population. <u>Journal of</u> Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 40(5), 441–444.

Glazner, L. (1991). Shiftwork: its effect on workers. AAOHN Journal, 39(9), 416-421.

Härmä, M. (1996). "Exercise, shiftwork and sleep." Kerr, J. Griffiths, A. and Cox, T. (eds.) In Workplace Health, Employee Fitness and Exercise, Taylor & Francis Ltd...

Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada. (July 1997). Heart Disease and Stroke in Canada.

Lee, C.C. and Stoneham, B.G. (1993) "Survey of Work Stress." RCMP Internal

MacDonald, S., Joffres, M.R., Stachenko, S., Horlick, L. and Fodor, G. (1992). Multiple cardiovascular disease risk factors in Canadian adults. <u>Canadian Medical Association</u> Journal, 145(11), 2021-2029.

Macleod, A.D. (1995). Undercover policing: a psychiatrist's perspective. <u>International</u> Journal of Law and Psychiatry, 18(2), 239-247.

Mearns, J. and Mauch, T.G. (1998). Negative mood regulation expectancies predict anger among police officers and buffer the effects of job stress. <u>The Journal of Nervous</u> and Mental Disease, 186(2), 120-125.

Meng. R. (1991) "How dangerous is work in Canada? Estimates of job-related fatalities in 482 occupations." <u>Journal of Occupational Medicine</u>, 33(10), 1084-1090.

Nakamura, K., Shimai, S., Kikuchi, S., Takahashi, H., Tanaka, M., Nakano, S., Motohashi, Y., Nakadaira, H. and Yamamoto, M. (1998). Increases of body mass index and waist circumference as outcomes of working overtime. <u>Journal of Occupational</u> <u>Medicine</u>, 48(3), 169-173.

Nirkko. O., Lauroma, M., Siltanen, P., Tuominen, H. and Vanhala, K. (1982). Psychological risk factors related to coronary heart disease. <u>Acta Med Scan (Suppl) 660</u>, 137-146.

Parmeggiani, L. (ed.). (1983). Encyclopaedia of occupational health and safety, volume 2 (3<sup>rd</sup> edition). International Labour Organisation.

Phillips, B., Magan, L., Gerhardstein, C. and Cecil, B. (1991). Shift work, sleep quality, and worker health: a study of police officers. <u>Southern Medical Journal</u>, 84(10), 1176-1184.

Polanyi, M., Eakin, J., Frank, J., Shannon, H. and Sullivan, T. (1996). Creating healthier work environments: a critical review of the health impacts of workplace change. National Forum on Health

Public Affairs and Information Directorate of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police. (1996). RCMP Fact Sheets 1996. Minister of Supply and Services Canada.

Pyorala, K., Savolainen, E., Lehtovirta, E., Punsar, S. and Siltanen, P. (1979). Glucose tolerance and coronary heart disease: Helsinki policemen study. <u>Journal of Chronic</u> Diseases, 32, 729-745.

Pyorala, M., Miettinen, H., Laakso, M., and Pyorala, K. (1998). Hyperinsulinemia and the risk of stroke in healthy middle-aged men. The 22-year follow-up results of the Helsinki policemen study. Stroke. 29, 1860-1866.

Raeburn, J.M. and Rootman, I. (1989). Towards an expanded health field concept: conceptual and research issues in a new era of health promotion. <u>Health Promotion</u>, 3(4), 383-392.

Richmond, R.L., Wodak, A., Kehoe, L. and Heather, N. (1998). How healthy are the police? A survey of life-style factors. <u>Addiction</u>, 93(11), 1729-1737.

Sardinas A., Miller J.W. and Hansen H. (1986). Ischemic heart disease mortality of firemen and policemen. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u>, 76(9), 1140-1141.

Siebenaler, M.J. and McGovern, P.M. (1991). Shiftwork. Consequences and considerations. <u>AAOHN Journal</u>, 39(12), 558-567.

Souter, F.C.G., van Netten, C. and Brands, R. (1992). Morbidity in policemen occupationally exposed to fingerprint powerds. <u>International Journal of Environmental</u> <u>Health Rearch</u>, 2, 114–119.

Sparrow. D., Thomas, H.E. and Weiss, S.T. (1983). Coronary heart disease in police officers participating in the normative aging study.

Statistics Canada, (1992) Canadians with impaired hearing, cat. No. 82-615. 5.

Stevens J, Cai J, Pamuk ER, Williamson DF, Thun M and Wood JL. (1998). The effect of age on the association between body-mass index and mortality. New England Journal of Medicine, 338, 1-7.

Superko HR, Bernauer E and Voss J. (1988). "Effects of a mandatory health screening and physical maintenance program for law enforcement officers." <u>Physician and Sports Medicine</u>, 16(9), 99-109.

Trottier, A. and Brown, J. (1995). Risk to police officers from biohazards encountered in police work. Journal of Clinical Forensic Medicine, 2, 111-116.

Trottier, A. and Brown, J. (1994). Occupational health in police work: a Canadian perspective. <u>Journal of Clinical Forensic Medicine</u>, 1, 39-42.

Trottier, A., Brown, J. and Wells, G.A. (1994). Respiratory symptoms among forensic identification workers. Journal of Clinical Forensic Medicine 1, 129-132.

Trottier, A. and Brown, J. (1993). Police health 1994: A physician's guide for the assessment of police officers. Canada Communication Group.

Violanti, J.M., Vena, J.E. and Petralia, S. (1998). Mortality of a police cohort: 1950-1990. American Journal of Industrial Medicine, 33, 366-373.

Violanti, J.M., Vena, J.E. and Marshall, J.R. (1986). Disease risk and mortality among police officers: new evidence and contributing factors. <u>Journal of Police Science</u> Administration, 14(1), 17-23.

Violanti, J.M. and Aron, F. (1994). Ranking police stressors. <u>Psychological Reports</u>, 75, 824-826.

Williams, M.A., Petratis, M.M., Baechle, T.R., Ryschon, K.L., Campain, J.J. and Sketch, M.H. (1987) Frequency of physical activity, exercise capacity, and atherosclerotic heart disease risk factors in male police officers. <u>Journal of Occupational Medicine</u>, 29(7), 596-600.

Winett, R.A., King, A.C. and Alman, D.G. (1989) Health psychology and public health: an integrative approach. Pergamon Press Inc.

# Appendices

### Annendiy 1

# PERIODIC HEALTH ASSESSMENT

PIB	CMP/P - PE - 808

 	Commission - Princes	
 	Duty - Fernan	

#### INSTRUCTIONS FOR DESIGNATED DUVEICIANS

The attached form for penodic health assessment is designed as an instrument to measure the occupational health of members of the RCMP

The questions are designed to be asked by the physician in order to promote a dialogue where required. They are not questions to be filled out by the member. This is not a questionnaire.

A guide to the interpretation of responses and a rationale for the questions is provided separately in the book entitled "Police Health: A Physician's Guide for the Assessment of Police Officers".

The PARE test referred to may be considered from the medical point of view, as equivalent to a maximal exercise test. The test parallels the sorts of things that members of the RCMP may be required to do at any time, without warning, in the course of their dubes. Members undergroing PARE are not monitored during the test.

If a physician decides that the member is unfit to take the PARE test then helde is saying, in effect that the career implications of such a statement it is requested that full justification be supplied and that specific occupational immitations and restrictions be provided.

Police work impacts directly on the safety of the public. A member involved in policing must be capable of doing the job in a manner that does not pose any preventable threat to him/her self to a co-worker or to the general public.

#### INSTRUCTIONS BOUR LES MEDECINS DÉSIGNÉS

La formule ci-jointe conçue pour l'évaluation périodique de santé vise à mesurer la santé au travail des membres de la GRC

Les questions ont été conques pour être posées par le médeun afin d'encourager le dialogue au besoin. Cette formule ne doit pas être remplie par les membres. Il ne s'agir pas d'un questionnaire.

Un guide pour l'interprétation des reponses et une justification des questions sont fourns separement dans le livre intitute «La santé du policier - Guide du médecin charge de l'examen médical des agents de polices.

Le TAPE mentionne peut être considére, du point de vue médical, comme l'équivalent d'une épreuve d'effort mainraile, Le test se compare aus genres de choses que le membre de la GRC doit faire n'importe quand, à l'improviste, dans l'exercice de ses fonctions. Les membres qui subissent le TAPE ne sont pas suiveilles durant le test.

Si le médecin décide que le membre n'est pas en état de subri le TAPE, il déclare en las que le membre est course telle déclaration pourrait avoir sur la clarinere du membre, le médecin doit fournir des justifications et indiquer les lemétes précisées et les restrictions de travail

Le travail policier influe directement sur la securité du public. Le membre qui fait du travail policier doit être capable de le faire d'une laçon qui ne menace aucunement sa securité, ni celle d'un collègue ou du grand

me of HSO or designated physician - from all meason-chart as as meason disagra	fattoria - fattoria	Date of Females
OM: APRIA		



Royal Canadian Gendarmene royale Mounted Police du Canada

Canada

tern terms		Ò	1 Depus votre demant installation de samte avec le GRC, an vous été exposé à des troits intenses tréquents ou entermitées (sel qu'à un séroport, autour de molecur à réaction, à bu d'hélicoptères, sur un champ de tr, esc.)
WHAT PROTECTIVE DEVICE WERE YOU WEARING? - QUEL APPAREL	DE PROTE	chow	ORTEZ-MUS?
2 Since your last RCMP heath assessment have you bee exposed to chemicals, gasses, ducts, plengens, or furner (including the firing range, industrial accounts or hobbies) forer-Cemium?	; å	ò	2 Depuis viotre demènir evaluation de sanse avec la CRC, avi violu de explosé à des produis chemiques, des gat, de possalent, est simplifies du des seques? y compre la char de br, les accidents industriels ou les passe-(emps)
WHAT PROTECTIVE DEVICE WERE YOU WEARING? - QUEL APPAREL	of Photo	CTION P	OPTICALLY
Stoor your last RCMP health assessment have you suffered any virunes in the line of duty? (then purched thoropas out flumbed invented in a motor vehicle acceleraty) over-flower-fl	0	ò	<ol> <li>Depuis votre demêns évaluation de sansé avec la GRC, an vota sub des transvers dans l'exerces qui vos fonctions? In des dans l'exerces de la comme de la comme de la comme de account de volunt?</li> </ol>
exposed to southors where vijury was likely even if it did not occur? (Near miss)	- R	ò	4 Depus votre demeire évalution de santé evec la GRC, avivous eté exposé à des situations ou z y avuel possibilés blessures même as ce n'est pas amue? (presque manqué)
motion to traubon where riphy was study own if it did not count in their measurements.  Since you see TOUR health assessment study you have conside to principless transfering event such as shorting routers, particularly water noders, document of their towns or one country states?			vous eté exposé à des saustons où il y avad possibéés
count flear mass ( floar-to-use RCAP health assessment have you been sooned to psychologically fluoristicip events buch as shorting notices; specially visited notices, sockered to	0		you sel spoos à On stations oi y yest possible tressurs infirm s or rise pas articl (pressur mençal).  5 Oppos vote cement evaluation de sante avec la CAC, an ou se sepple à des animentes psychologiques ou profession de la commence psychologiques des la commentation de la commence psychologiques de la commentation de la commence psychologiques de la commentation de

8 Since your last RCMP heath assessment have you noticed any change in your weight or west size? Eyen- Conser	<u>.</u>	ā'	Depuis votre demelne évaluation de santé avec la GRI avez-vous remarque un changement dans votre pouts ou tour or taile?
	_		
Since your last RCMP health assessment have you noticed any change in your energy level such as an increase or decrease in latigue or change in seeping pattern? **Own*** Commun.	- L	5	Depuis viotre demère évaluation de santé avec la GRC, avez- vious remarque un changement dans votre niveau d'anergie, le qu'une augmentation ou diminution de fatigue ou un changement d'habitude de somme-1?
	_		
Have you had difficulty unnating, unusual frequency of unnation, had to get up to unnate during the right?	6.5	à °	Avez-vous des dificultés à unner, avez-vous remarqué des changements dans la histoience du avez-vous à vous lever pendant la not pour unner?
open - Especial			
To you smoke lobacco? Have you or has anyone case to you become concerned about your current use of lobacco or other medications.	180	- "	Esl-ce que vous fumez du tabac? Vous inquetez-vous ou esl-ce que quesulun pres de vois s'inquete de votre consommation régulière du tabac ou autres medicaments?
tona			
2 in the last 12 months have you	=	= 12	Au cours des 12 demers mos, avez-vous
a) left you should cut down on your drinking?			a) ressero le besoin de diminuer votre consommation d'alcool)?
b) been annoyed by people crocking your divixing?			tij Est-ce que les personnes vous exasperent quand elles craquent votre consommation d'alcoo??
c) left bad or guilty about your drawing?			c) Vous êtes senti coupable à cause de votre consommation d'alcoo?
d) had a drex first thing in the morning to steady your nerves or to get no of a hangover leye-opener?			d) consumme de l'alcool en vous levant le malur pour calmer vous nerfs ou pour vous débarrasser de voire gueule de bois?
Have you any concerns about exposure to contagious diseases such as superculosis. AICS, or repatits?  Per-Cenaer	18	20	Airez-mus des préoccupations face à l'expossion à des maudies contageuses teles que la tuberculose, le SIDA ou Depatie?
		_	
Nave you developed frequent heataches, vision changes, balance protiems, hearing difficulties, secures, failting, or fos?	120	ā"	Ressentez-vous de fréquents maux de tête, un changement de vision problemes d'équilibre, des difficultés d'oute, des convulsions, evanoussements ou des traise?
our-Cores			
	_	_	
5 Have you developed any shortness of breath, cough, wheeting, coughing of southurn or blood?	18	= 15 = 15	Avez-vous eu des difficultés respirationes, une toux, ur siffement gras ou crachez-vous des expectaristions ou du saing !

Depart - Contract	Ö	ò	_	vitte poenne, COL, militarie ou des grifures aux chevilles
17 Have you developed any past or bads process? Any muscle weathers? Any numbers, linging or test of sentation? Sear-Leases	200	ò	17	Ansz-visis un problème d'articulations ou de des? Ans une fablesse musculaire? Eproyetz-visis engourdesaments, des picolements ou une parte de sens
Dr. you correctly particular in any regular activity, sports or program, either on your text or in a formal case, designed to maintain your physical foreas?  Texam-Common*	20	0	18	Paracect-vois requirement it des activies, à des sont des programmes decinés it maraier voire cundoon phy act par vois même ou dans une classe?
9 is your current weight above to below deal weight for you?	20	ò	19	Esi-ce que vidre dods actual est au-dessus ou endesso vidre poch dass?
20 is your blood pressure too high?	180		20	Eas-carque votre tension antimetre est trop élevée?
21 is your blood sugar too high? 22 is your cholesterol too high?				Est-ce que votre taux de sucre est trop éleve?  Est-ce que votre noveau de cholesterol est trop éleve?
23 Have you noticed any change in a mole, or any skin changes or persistent scree?  Comp.: Compact	200	1	23	Ausz-vous remarqué un Changement d'une lache de nàmi ou autres changements de peau ou des places qui ne guér pas?
24 Do you consider yourself to be in good physical health?  Gener-burnance	0	ò	24	Vous considéraz vous en bonne santé physique?
25 Do you consider yourself to be in good efficiental health?	1.4	-	25	Vous considéraz vous en bonne santé émolognelle?
26 Do you consider yourself to be physically fit to do front line operational policing if required?	140		25	Vous considerez-vous en assez bonne forme physique Sere le travez d'un policier de ligne de consect si demande?

(MT) Comm- Compan		ā	27 Avid-rous une bonne airmentation? (ex. bisaucoup de fores pas trop de matiéres grasses?)
	_		
28 Are you nappy with your job?  Exercise:	<u>.</u>	ò	28 Elea-vous heureusises à votre travail?
29 Do you have periods when you feel halpless, or worthess, or very discressed? Cores-Corese	140	-	29 Avez-vous des périodes ou vous vous seriez délasse devalorsé(e), déprimé(e)?
	_	_	
30. Do you feet very tense and nervous in some situations?	0	ò	30 Your senior-ous bits sendu et nerveux Gans ceta- séusions?
31. Mave you recently left very angry?	D.	0	31 Yous diss-vous sent tres (Sche recemment?
12 Have you recently let very frustrated? James - Lomans	2.0	-	32 Vlvis fitts-rous sero less frustre recemment?
later Compa		0	
town toward  3 is there any medical problem that you may have brighten about at the time of your last medical that you now implement?	140	000	33 Y a-H-I un problème megical que vous aunez oublé lors de
22 Then you recome but very humbrard?  33 In their any required proteins that you does have highlaten.  33 In their any required proteins that you does have highlaten.  34 In their any section of you was recorded that you does represented?  35 There are perchangual or perchangual proteins that you may note the facilities that you have memoripe?			22 Years Bits-viols also best hybrid externment?  23 Years on probleme residual our viols source child son be server marker marker stocks done viols showers "marker marker source sour

terr-terre		ш					
					_		
37 is there any aspect of your health either me psychological that might restrict your capacity to safely your duties? Imper-Lemans.			37 Y seed on see gus pourmet di façon selecution	and do vote to menuer votes o per?	apaca	ot medic i de rem	si ou psychologic për vas fonctions
					_		
38 is there any family history of heart disease, high blood or diabetes, or cancer?		à	d Est-ce qu'il y tension affilhe	a des ambce la crevie, dut	sents f	cancer?	maladie du coe
less-tenac	_	_					
					_		
29 Do you have any personal history of senous or chronic in psychological, or physical disorders?	**************************************	ò	29 Avez-vous 6 chroniques, si	that the des	troub payo	ies med	Scaux graves 17
tener-Longue	u	ш					
		_			_		
0 What medication do you take regularly?		•	Quel medicam	ent prenez-vou	s regul	d-mment	,
IT Allerges:			Alleges		-		
					_	_	
		_			_		
Previous occupations within or outside the RCMP		•	GRC GRC	ctors passee	s a fee	teneur ou	a fextéreur de
		_					
		_			_	_	
() Have you been immunize Avez-rous eta immunise et avez you	d and had boos	len for			=	_	
	s eu vos injecti	ons de n	appel pour:		2	=	Date
TETANUSDIPHTHERIA (Td) - TÉTANOSIDIPHTÉRIE (Td)		_			Н	+	
POLIO - POLIO					-	-	
HEPATITIS 8 - HEPATITE 8		_			_	_	
4 Have you had the following immunization once in your	Ife - Avez-vou	06ja es	les immunisatio	ns suivantes:	7=	=	Date
MEASLES (born after 1956 who have not had the measles) ROUGEOLE (ne apres 1956 et qui n'a pas eu la rougeole)							
MUMPS (if no history of mumps) OREILLONS (si pas d'antécédents d'oreitons)					I	П	
RUBELLA (susceptible women between menanche and meno RUBECLE (personne de genne feminin)	opeuse)						
45 Have you had a TB test - Avez-vous ou un examen po		947		Positive Poser	Neg	Store patr	Date

LOCO PRESSURE THIS ON ANTERELLE	PENT SATE	-	Of the		-	r-roes	A 22.0	PRATORY BATE DUENCE PRATORE	tear	1100 (0000	=
GENERAL APPEAR	ANCE - APPAR	ENCE GENE	MALE	_	_		-		-		
indicate any Skin Les	uons-indiquer to	ute lésion cuts	2000								
			_	-					_	_	
			_	_		_				_	
				_							
EAD / EARS / EYE	( vi) for normal	- pour norma	R-D	L-G	UX / MEZ /		MAUTIE	S NOTED - AN	OMALIES	OTÉES	
Notes Notes											
straccular Movemen	9		T								
Acuvements extraos. uno uno	ares .		+		_	_					_
ina			+	-	-						
onjunctive onjunctive											_
ympanic Memoranes Aemoranes tympanio				1							
	-		1	_		_	_				
eptum nasai			-	-	-						
lasai Polyps Olypes nasaux											_
inus Tendemess inus sensicie											
TOM			1	_							_
orge			-	_	-						
ervical Nades, Thyro Jangtons cervicaux,	Thyrolde		1_	_			_				
Cenvical Mobility Abbilità cenvicale			1								
RANIAL NERVES -	NERFS CRÁNI	DNS.	_		_	_				_	_
	( vi ) for norma		8.0	11.6	1	ARMOR	MALITIE	S NOTED - AN	DWALIES !	NOTÉES	
		-	14.0	10.0	-						_
	1			1							
	٧										
			-	-	_						
	VII			1							
	IX										
			+	-	-						
	X										
	XI		$\top$								
			+-	-	_	_					
	XII		_	_							
VISUAL ACUITY - AC	UITÉ VISUELL	E				AUD	OGRAM	- AUDIOGRAM	ME		
Incorrected fon complex	00	os			250	500	1000	2000	2000	4000	600
orrected ompte	00	os	86	pet		1		1		1	1
		os	- 00	pite							
clour Vision	-	_	Let								
rerception des cauleu	n 00	es	Ge	UCN4			_	1			_
HEST - SYSTEME			_	_							_
	( v ) for norma	- pour norma			Al	NORMALIT	IES NOT	ED - ANOMALI	ES NOTEE:	5	
rspection	()										
Pagation Pagation		_	+	_	_	_					
Notion	( )		-								
ercusson ercusson	()										
Suscutation Suscutation	( )										
ARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM CARDIO-VAS			-	_				S NOTED - AN			_
	_			_	_	ABNOR	CALL TR	S MUTED - AN	OBACIES I	OTEES	
Aspection Aspection	( )										
Palpation	( )										
vscutation .				_							_
- noutation	( )		T-s-	-	-						
Evidence	of: - Signes de		·-	=							
erebro vascular dise. Ralade carebro-vasci	in a										
											_
Joronary disease Maladie coronamenine Peripheral arternal dise Maladie arternale perio			-	-	-		_			_	_

Scans Coarros Auctes											
Asces											
Aneuryen	-				_		_	_			
Organomegasy	1	_	_		_		_	_		_	
Nama	-	$\vdash$	-		_		_	_			
Name	-	-	-		_			_			
EXTREMITIES AND BACK - EXTREMITES ET DOS	Ļ	$\vdash$	-	_		RNALITI	FR WOT	TO 480	-	HOTEE	
		7-	_	_	-	MEAL!	ES MUI	ED - AM		MOILES	
	2	=									
Fexally name: Fexalles names											
Pan on movement Doubler au mouvement	$\overline{}$										
014 6 1 1 6 6 6 6 6 7	<u> </u>	i –	_		-		_		_		
Second county	-	-	-		-	_	_		_		
Strength normal Force normal Movement normal	_	-	-		_		_		_	_	
			_		_						
Jonts normal Anoustons normales Refesse normal Réfesse normals											
Rafessa normali Rafessa normali											
Sensory normal Perception sensorelle Circulation normal Circulation normal											
Circulation normal					_	_					
Circleson normale  (I) WER EXTREMITES  EXTREMITES INFERREGISS		-	-		_		_	_	_	_	
LETRE MITES INFERIGURES	-	Н			_						
Force normale					_						
Strengt normal Force normal Movement normal Movement normal											
Jonts normal Articulations normalies											
Referes normal			_								
Rifferse nomace Sensory nomal Persprion sensorale nomale Certuration nomale Certuration nomale Gat nomali Ownerote nomale	-	$\overline{}$	_	_	_		_			_	
Perception sensorate normale	$\vdash$	$\vdash$	-		_				_	-	-
Circuration normalia	$\vdash$				_						
Demarche normale											
Des guestions additionnelles sont directed toward		100			-		200		Description of	7 =514 : 0	Mahadi 1
Des questions attactoments sont trented towns  ""  If reply is negative go to laboratory	lests.		\$ Sq.			cer - Squ			er Dran	7 = Su4 : 0*	distant "
or continue attitudence on to laboratory Si to reporte an infpative, passer	lests.		Sign						ar Desc	7 =514 : 01	Manager 1
if reply is negative go to laboratory Si la réponse est négative, passer de laboratore.	tests. Buz ép	reves	Sq	ature of	Men	cer - Sign	ature du	membre			
if reply is negative go to laboratory Si la réponse est négative, passer de laboratore.	tests. Buz ép	reves	Sq	ature of	Men	cer - Sign	ature du	membre			
Frephy is negative go to laboratory Si la réponse est régative, passer le laboration Have you experienced difficulty sessiouring, al d'ange in bouel habits or appearance of st neues, breading from the mouth or recursi-	tests. Buz ép	reves	Sq	ature of	Men	ter - Signi	eprove	des change	officulties ments of vomes		r, des douteurs massinales on naucles, des
Frephy is negative go to laboratory Si la réponse est régative, passer le laboration Have you experienced difficulty sessiouring, al d'ange in bouel habits or appearance of st neues, breading from the mouth or recursi-	tests. Buz ép	reves	Sq	ature of	Men	ter - Signi	eprove	membre	officulties ments of vomes		
Frephy is negative go to laboratory Si la réponse est régative, passer le laboration Have you experienced difficulty sessiouring, al d'ange in bouel habits or appearance of st neues, breading from the mouth or recursi-	tests. Buz ép	reves	Sq	ature of	Men	ter - Signi	eprove	des change	officulties ments of vomes		
if reply is negative go to laboratory Si la réponse est négative, passer de laboratore.	tests. Buz ép	reves	Sq	ature of	Men	ter - Signi	eprove	des change	officulties ments of vomes		
Frephy is negative go to laboratory Si la réponse est régative, passer le laboration Have you experienced difficulty sessiouring, al d'ange in bouel habits or appearance of st neues, breading from the mouth or recursi-	tests. Buz ép	reves	Sq	ature of	Men	ter - Signi	eprove	des change	officulties ments of vomes		
Triply is egipted gill bildomary  (in format and regions, passer  in absorption  Design in behavior of finish residency,  Plangua representation of opposition of states  Design in behavior that is opposition of states  Design in behavior of the model of request  Company to the model of request  C	tests. aux ep domen tos, v	el pari	34 0	-	1 1	ber - Signi hez-vous boomnain rapparano agnamen	éprovins. des	d des change sales, touche o	officialities ments of vormes u de mod	8 avsid Nethrodes sements, um?	m, des douleurs s résotrates on nausses, des
Triply is egipted gill bildomary  (in format and regions, passer  in absorption  Design in behavior of finish residency,  Plangua representation of opposition of states  Design in behavior that is opposition of states  Design in behavior of the model of request  Company to the model of request  C	tests. aux ep domen tos, v	el pari	34 0	-	1 1	ber - Signi hez-vous boomnain rapparano agnamen	éprovins. des	d des change sales, touche o	officialities ments of vormes u de mod	8 avsid Nethrodes sements, um?	m, des douleurs s résotrates on nausses, des
Tretty a region of to become for the force and region, pages for the proper pages for the proper pages force the p	tests. aux ep domen tos, v	el pari	34 0	-	1 1	ber - Signi hez-vous boomnain rapparano agnamen	éprovins. des	d des change sales, touche o	officialities ments of vormes u de mod	8 avsid Nethrodes sements, um?	
Tretty a region of to become for the force and region, pages for the proper pages for the proper pages force the p	tests. aux ep domen tos, v	el pari	34 0	-	1 1	ber - Signi hez-vous boomnain rapparano agnamen	éprovins. des	d des change sales, touche o	officialities ments of vormes u de mod	8 avsid Nethrodes sements, um?	m, des douleurs s résotrates on nausses, des
Triply is egipted gill bildomary  (in format and regions, passer  in absorption  Design in behavior of finish residency,  Plangua representation of opposition of states  Design in behavior that is opposition of states  Design in behavior of the model of request  Company to the model of request  C	tests. aux ep domen tos, v	el pari	34 0	-	1 1	ber - Signi hez-vous boomnain rapparano agnamen	éprovins. des	d des change sales, touche o	officialities ments of vormes u de mod	8 avsid Nethrodes sements, um?	m, des douleurs s résotrates on nausses, des
Tretty a region of to become for the force and region, pages for the proper pages for the proper pages force the p	tests. aux ep domen tos, v	el pari	34 0	-	1 1	ber - Signi hez-vous boomnain rapparano agnamen	éprovins. des	d des change sales, touche o	officialities ments of vormes u de mod	8 avsid Nethrodes sements, um?	m, des douleurs s résotrates on nausses, des
Toyle is register by talenteen an experiment of significant control and significant control and significant control and significant control and other an experiment of an experi	tests.	enstru	140		2 :	ber - Signi Intervous Paparano Si vous ( Cangamer	toprouve se, des se de la des de la	de des charges autorité de des charges autorité de des charges de des	difficulties woman de rect	a problem. Problementa.  Britis - violation	r, des douteurs s résolvaires de neutres, des
The part of the pa	tests.	enstru	140		2 :	livez-vous bidonnalid repparation signament	toprouve se, des se de la des de la	de des charges autorité de des charges autorité de des charges de des	difficulties woman de rect	a problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.	m, des douleurs s résotrates on nausses, des
Tretty a region of to become for the force and region, pages for the proper pages for the proper pages force the p	tests.	enstru	34 0		2 :	ber - Signi Intervous Paparano Si vous ( Cangamer	toprouve se, des se de la des de la	de des charges autorité de des charges autorité de des charges de des	difficulties woman de rect	a problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.	r, des douteurs s résolvaires de neutres, des
The part of the pa	tests.	enstru	140		2 :	ber - Signi Intervous Paparano Si vous ( Cangamer	toprouve se, des se de la des de la	de des charges autorité de des charges autorité de des charges de des	difficulties woman de rect	a problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.	r, des douteurs s résolvaires de neutres, des
The part of the pa	tests.	enstru	140		2 :	ber - Signi Intervous Paparano Si vous ( Cangamer	toprouve se, des se de la des de la	de des charges autorité de des charges autorité de des charges de des	difficulties woman de rect	a problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.	r, des douteurs s résolvaires de neutres, des
	your m	enstru	20 20 20		2 :	ber - Signi Intervous Paparano Si vous ( Cangamer	toprouve se, des se de la des de la	de des charges autorité de des charges autorité de des charges de des	difficulties woman de rect	a problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.  problementa.	r, des douteurs s résolvaires de neutres, des
	your m	enstru	20 20 20		2 :	kez-rous bidonnale fapparen S S visus S transperies	eprovings, des se de la de	membre de des change sales. sales. sales voca cy	difficulties with the second se	a single production of the control o	ir, des couleruns or resectates or naucèes. des
	your m	enstru	20 20 20		2 :	kez-rous bidonnale fapparen S S visus S transperies	eprovings, des se de la de	membre de des change sales. sales. sales voca cy	difficulties with the second se	a single production of the control o	ir, des couleruns or resectates or naucèes. des
	your m	enstru	20 20 20		2 :	kez-rous bidonnale fapparen S S visus S transperies	eprovings, des se de la de	membre de des change sales. sales. sales voca cy	difficulties with the second se	a single production of the control o	r, des douteurs s résolvaires de neutres, des
The part of the pa	your m	enstru	20 20 20		2 :	kez-rous bidonnale fapparen S S visus S transperies	eprovings, des se de la de	membre de des change sales. sales. sales voca cy	difficulties with the second se	a single production of the control o	ir, des couleruns or resectates or naucèes. des
	your m	enstru	20 20 20		2 :	kez-rous bidonnale fapparen S S visus S transperies	eprovings, des se de la de	membre de des change sales. sales. sales. sales. sales. sales. sales. de double de dou	difficulties with the second se	a single production of the control o	ir, des couleruns or resectates or naucèes. des

m-Comme			
Further examination is not required for occu		_	Un examen plus complet n'est pas requis pour des raisons di trevail mais il est recommandé cour la santé du membre et
Further examination is not required for occu- but is recommended for the health of t includes examination of:	-	ber and	Un assumen plus complet n'est pas requis pour des raisons d' brevail mais il set recommends pour la santé du membre et inclut un esamen dis:
( vi) for normal - pour normal	~	=	ABNORMALITIES NOTED - AMOMALIES NOTEES
reests (female) ens (femmes)			
etvic (internal or vaginal)			
op Smear (Fernale) est Pap (fernmes)			
sternal Gentale (men) rgenes génitaux (hommes)			
ectum (men and women) actum (hommes et femmes)			
	d Dhua	cien to	perform these examinations or expense for them to be done?
deirez-vous que le médecin-chef	ou le	méde	perform these examinations or arrange for them to be done? cin désigné exécute ces examens ou qu'il(elle) fasse
rrangements pour les faire faire?		-	
	=	à	Signature of Member - Signature du membre
PEQUINE D 11 S	15 (41)	ali Aşt s	PSE EXAMENS REQUIS LEGIS WERES,
	_		
			ANY ABNORMALITIES - ANOMALIES
Audiogramme Audiogramme			
Analysis (furns			
Cholesterol Cholesterol	_		
	1		
Gamma Glutarmi Transferese	-		
Cholesderol Garrena Glucamyi Transferase Garrena glucamyi transferase		_	
Gamma Glutarmi Transferese		_	
Gamma Glutamyi Transferase Gamma glutamyi transferase THE FOLLOWING TESTS ARE RECOMMEND	ED FOR 1	HE HEA	LTH OF THE MEMBERS BUT NOT REQUIRED BY THE FORCE:
Gamma Glutamyi Transferase Gamma glutamyi transferase THE FOLLOWING TESTS ARE RECOMMEND	ED FOR 1	URLAS	ANTÉ DU MEMBRE MAIS NE SONT PAS EXIGÉS PAR LA GRC:
Germa Gildamy Transhirasa Germa gildamy Iranshirasa THE FOLLOWING TESTS ARE RECOMMEND LES EXAMENS SUNYANTS SONT RECOMMEND TESTS: naminography (Innaes, e apopon	NOÉS PO	URLAS	ANTÉ DU MEMBRE MAIS NE SONT PAS EXIGÉS PAR LA GRC:
Germa Gildamy Transfersie Germa gildamy transfersie THE FOLLOWING TESTS ARE RECOMMEND LES EXAMENS SULVANTS SONT RECOMMEND ESTS: namnography (finnish, et appropri	NOÉS PO	URLAS	ANTÉ DU MEMBRE MAIS NE SONT PAS EXIGÉS PAR LA GRC:
Germa Gildamy Transhirasa Germa gildamy Iranshirasa THE FOLLOWING TESTS ARE RECOMMEND LES EXAMENS SUNYANTS SONT RECOMMEND TESTS: naminography (Innaes, e apopon	noés Po no freça	URLAS	ANTÉ DU MEMBRE MAIS NE SONT PAS EXIGÉS PAR LA GRC:  EXAMENS:
Commo (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse ESTS: naminography (furniss, or appropri- page less (furniss), avery page less (furniss), avery page page less (furniss), avery page less (furniss), avery page page less (furniss), avery	MOÉS PO de Inque poroprase maise on	ncy) age) or 50)	ANTÉ DU MEMBRE MAIS MÉ SONT PAS EXDÉS PAR LA GRC:  EXAMENS: .mammagraphe (tennes - s téquenos appropriés) - lest Par (tennes, annosterent) - protes amplies sociétate of homma - lága appropriés - agracioscopie fiscalle (homma et leurnes au-desait de 50)
Commo (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse ESTS: naminography (furniss, or appropri- page less (furniss), avery page less (furniss), avery page page less (furniss), avery page less (furniss), avery page page less (furniss), avery	MOÉS PO de Inque poroprase maise on	ncy) age) or 50)	ANTÉ DU MEMBRE MAIS MÉ SONT PAS EXDÉS PAR LA GRC:  EXAMENS: .mammagraphe (tennes - s téquenos appropriés) - lest Par (tennes, annosterent) - protes amplies sociétate of homma - lága appropriés - agracioscopie fiscalle (homma et leurnes au-desait de 50)
Commo (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse ESTS: naminography (furniss, or appropri- page less (furniss), avery page less (furniss), avery page page less (furniss), avery page less (furniss), avery page page less (furniss), avery	MOÉS PO de Inque poroprase maise on	ncy) age) or 50)	ANTÉ DU MEMBRE MAIS MÉ SONT PAS EXDÉS PAR LA GRC:  EXAMENS: .mammagraphe (tennes - s téquenos appropriés) - lest Par (tennes, annosterent) - protes amplies sociétate of homma - lága appropriés - agracioscopie fiscalle (homma et leurnes au-desait de 50)
Commo (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse ESTS: naminography (furniss, or appropri- page less (furniss), avery page less (furniss), avery page page less (furniss), avery page less (furniss), avery page page less (furniss), avery	nots Po as Inque proprate mass or Physicia que le	uncy) age) ar 50) an to an médeci	ANT DO register qual se SONT PAS SONDS PAR LA CAIC.  EXAMENS:
Commo (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse ESTS: naminography (furniss, or appropri- page less (furniss), avery page less (furniss), avery page page less (furniss), avery page less (furniss), avery page page less (furniss), avery	nots Po as Inque proprate mass or Physicia que le	uncy) age) ar 50) an to an médeci	ANTÉ DU MEMBRE MAIS MÉ SONT PAS EXDÉS PAR LA GRC:  EXAMENS: .mammagraphe (tennes - s téquenos appropriés) - lest Par (tennes, annosterent) - protes amplies sociétate of homma - lága appropriés - agracioscopie fiscalle (homma et leurnes au-desait de 50)
Commo (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse Germa (Acamy Transferse ESTS: naminography (furniss, or appropri- page less (furniss), avery page less (furniss), avery page page less (furniss), avery page less (furniss), avery page page less (furniss), avery	nots Po as Inque proprate mass or Physicia que le	uncy) age) ar 50) an to an médeci	ANT DO register qual se SONT PAS SONDS PAR LA CAIC.  EXAMENS:
Genna Cultury Transvesse Genna Guider Transvesse The Following TEXTS ARE RECOMMEND LES EXAMENS SURVAYS SOM RECOMMEND LES EXAMENS SURVAYS SUR	stoffs PO sto freque poroprate smales ou Physicia que le	ege) ege) er 50) en to an médeci	ANT Do register gaus at 500°F AN COSE AN A. COIL.  EXAMENS:
Genna Cultury Transvesse Genna Guiday Transvesse List Extende SUPVARTS SCORMING LIST EXAMENS SUPVARTS SOFT RECOMMEN ESTS: semmingsuity formers, a genome - lose less frommen every serie - lose less frommen every serie - factor sepronductory (mans ser la - factor ser la - fac	stoffs PO sto freque poroprate smales ou Physicia que le	ege) ege) er 50) en to an médeci	ANT Do register gaus at 500°F AN COSE AN A. COIL.  EXAMENS:
Genna Cultury Transvesse Genna Guiday Transvesse List Extende SUPVARTS SCORMING LIST EXAMENS SUPVARTS SOFT RECOMMEN ESTS: semmingsuity formers, a genome - lose less frommen every serie - lose less frommen every serie - factor sepronductory (mans ser la - factor ser la - fac	stoffs PO sto freque poroprate smales ou Physicia que le	ege) ege) er 50) en to an médeci	ANT Do register gaus at 500°F AN COSE AN A. COIL.  EXAMENS:
Genna Cultury Transvesse Genna Guiday Transvesse List Extende SUPVARTS SCORMING LIST EXAMENS SUPVARTS SOFT RECOMMEN ESTS: semmingsuity formers, a genome - lose less frommen every serie - lose less frommen every serie - factor sepronductory (mans ser la - factor ser la - fac	stoffs PO sto freque poroprate smales ou Physicia que le	ege) ege) er 50) en to an médeci	ANT Do register gaus at 500°F AN COSE AN A. COIL.  EXAMENS:
Common Champy Transferase Common Statemy Transferase Common Statemy Transferase Common Statemy Transferase LES DIAMENS SUPLANTS SOON FORCEMENT TESTS: namnography (furnam, or appropri- page 160 (furnam, or appropri- pa	stoffs PO sto freque poroprate smales ou Physicia que le	ege) ege) er 50) en to an médeci	ANT DO register gaus at 500°F AN COGE AN A. COE.  EXAMENS:
General Guizer, Transverse General Guizer, Statistics General Guizer, Statistics Guizer,	stoffs PO sto freque poroprate smales ou Physicia que le	ege) ege) er 50) en to an médeci	ANT Do register gaus at 500°F AN COSE AN A. COIL.  EXAMENS:
General Guizer, Transverse General Guizer, Statistics General Guizer, Statistics Guizer,	stoffs PO sto freque poroprate smales ou Physicia que le	ege) ege) er 50) en to an médeci	ANT Do register gaus at 500°F AN COSE AN A. COIL.  EXAMENS:
Genna Cultury Transvesse Genna Guiday Transvesse List Extende SUPVARTS SCORMING LIST EXAMENS SUPVARTS SOFT RECOMMEN ESTS: semmingsuity formers, a genome - lose less frommen every serie - lose less frommen every serie - factor sepronductory (mans ser la - factor ser la - fac	stoffs PO sto freque poroprate smales ou Physicia que le	ege) ege) er 50) en to an médeci	ANT Do register gaus at 500°F AN COSE AN A. COIL.  EXAMENS:
Genna Cultury Transvesse Genna Guiday Transvesse List Extende SUPVARTS SCORMING LIST EXAMENS SUPVARTS SOFT RECOMMEN ESTS: semmingsuity formers, a genome - lose less frommen every serie - lose less frommen every serie - factor sepronductory (mans ser la - factor ser la - fac	stoffs PO sto freque poroprate smales ou Physicia que le	ege) ege) er 50) en to an médeci	ANT Do register gaus at 500°F AN COSE AN A. COIL.  EXAMENS:

in my opinion, this member needs to see the detachment fitness coordinator or other identity's coursellor (dielitican, nurse, stc.)	ă ō	2 Å mps constant constant constant constant	and, p consider que d mateur de conditionem de en promotion de la santé	e marriere devreit vor is en physique ou in self- distallicumine, infilmenten.
				int.
In my opnion this member does/does not suffer from a medical condoon that would prevent him/her from safely performing the PARE test as outlined in "Prailice Heality".	00	3 Å mor fomple indicat	own, or membre a ou n' change de subir en toule séc dans le livre réthals «Le sen	o pas un état médical qui sunte la TAPE lei qu'il est el du paticion.
				ine.
If yes, explain and give limitation and restrictions of duty.		4 Dans fi bus d	offenene, edquer les metr utes et les espliques	ctors minimus aux fonction
	-			
			Primer - Ingent - Tours - Primer - Prim	
North Aspender Contract amounts				
VEMBER'S COMMENTS. COMMENTAIRES DU MEMBRE				
	-	-		
-SO COMMEN'S COMMEN'S HES SOUNDED HAVE HE COMMENTS PERSONNO TO EMPTHONE OF DUTY RESTRICTIONS BUSINESS ES COMMENTARIES PORTANT SUR LES LIMITES OU LES RESTRICTIONS	BE TRANSFERS S RELATIVES AU	ED TO FOR	E 2158 CL DOMENT ÉTRE REPORTÉS	SUR LA FORMALE 2158.
Signature of HSD - Signature is medicon-chief			0=	PARE Time - Durbe du TAPE

õõ





Office of Research and Graduate Studies (Medicine) Faculty of Medicine The Health Sciences Centre

1999 03 22

TO: Ms. Lesley Tomblin

FROM: Dr. Verna M. Skanes, Assistant Dean

Research & Graduate Studies (Medicine)

SUBJECT: Application to the Human Investigation Committee - #99.28

The Human Investigation Committee of the Faculty of Medicine has reviewed your proposal for the study entitled "Health Trends in a Canadian Police Force: A Cross Sectional and Longitudinal Study".

Full approval has been granted for one year, from point of view of ethics as defined in the terms of reference of this Faculty Committee. For a hospital-based study, it is <u>your</u> responsibility to seek necessary approval from the Health Care Corporation of St. John's.

Notwithstanding the approval of the HIC, the primary responsibility for the ethical conduct of the investigation remains with you.

Verna M. Skanes, PhD Assistant Dean

cc: Dr. K.M.W. Keough, Vice-President (Research)

Dr. R. Williams, Vice-President, Medical Services, HCC

Dr. M. Murray, Supervisor











